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Notice of Meeting / Agenda

Notice 

A Special General Meeting of members of
Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited will
be held on June 5, 2012 at the Wyndham
Kingston Hotel commencing at 3pm to approve
the following matters:

1) Merger Resolution in relation to the new
Credit Union:

- Name 

- Address

- Effective date of merger

- Rules

2) Financials in  relation to 2011
performance of Churches Co-operative
Credit Union Limited

- Treasurer’s Report

- Financial Statements & Auditor’s
Report

- Distribution of Surplus

.......................................................

Gervaise McLeod (Mr)
Secretary, Board of Directors

Agenda for Special General Meeting, 
June 5, 2012.

Ascertainment of Quorum

Call to Order and Prayer

Chairman’s Opening Remarks and Obituaries

Reading & Confirmation of the Minutes of the
Special General Meeting held on July 19, 2011

- Matters Arising

Resolution in relation to the new Credit Union:

- Name 

- Address

- Effective date of merger

- Rules

Reports in relation to Churches Co-operative
Credit Union Limited's 2011 performance 

- Treasurer’s Report

- Financial Statements & Auditor’s Report

- Distribution of Surplus

Vote of Thanks

Adjournment
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Minutes of the Special General Meeting to consider merger between Churches
Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. and GSB Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. held on
Tuesday July 19, 2011 at 8-10 Eureka Road, Kingston 5.

Call to Order

Having ascertained that a quorum was present, the Chairman, Mr. Orville Hill called the meeting to order at
4:35 p.m. He welcomed everyone present including the Registrar of Dept of Co-operatives, Errol Gallimore,
after which, he invited Mr. Balvin Vanriel to pray. Mr. Vanriel then offered a short prayer. 

Apologies

No apologies were received for absence or lateness.

Introductions

The Chairman introduced the members of the Board, the CEO and the senior staff members to the
audience, after which, he invited the Secretary, Mr. Gervaise McLeod to read the notice of the meeting.
The notice of the meeting was then read by Mr. Mcleod.

Matter at Hand

The Chairman gave a synopsis of the events leading up to the matter of the merger between Churches
Credit Union and GSB Credit Union. He reminded the members that a MOU was signed between the credit
unions and that several Town meetings were held outlining the proposal for the merger. The Chairman
further explained the purpose of the meeting to be that of voting on the proposal to merge. Mr. Hill re-
iterated that both Credit Unions were strong in their own right and gave performance ratings for both Credit
Unions for the past year.  He further stated that this merger is strategic, where both organizations will
experience synergies of values and development plans for the members. He expressed extreme
appreciation to Mr. Errol Gallimore who had provided invaluable support in facilitating the process thus far.
Mr. Hill then invited questions from the audience.

Miss. D. Francis asked whether it was possible for non-workers of the Government to be a member of the
new entity, to which the Chairman answered positively.  Mr. Lewis, asked another question of the possibility
of a name change to which Mr. Hill confirmed same. Mr. Lewis also asked to clarify whether the merger
meant that the Government would now be managing their funds, to which the Chairman replied to the
members that this was not so. A member expressed some reservations regarding whether fees would be
increased to which the President replied that the Board Of Directors and Management are mindful of the
members regarding the setting of fees and the related costs of services to its members. Mr. Davis, a
member, asked why the merger was necessary. Mr. Hill, in response, outlined the benefits to be derived,
such as a larger pool of funds to meet the needs of its members, as well as the need to ensure that the
credit union movement remains viable in the financial Sector.

Mr. Leach, a member, asked for a deeper rationale behind the merger and intimated that the only benefit
would be for the members of the Boards and not the Members. The Chairman and a representative from
the Board addressed the point and asked that the statement be withdrawn. Mr. Jarrett, another member,
expressed concern that everyone’s democratic right to speak must be exercised and no member should be
silenced. He added further that he understood the nature of mergers but asked whether the percentage
rates applied to loans would be affected and if so, in what way. Mr. Hill explained that the process would
entail that both institutions would come together to determine the relevant interest rates taking into account
the differences of each and create new rates to be applied for the new entity. 
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Minutes of the Special General Meeting to consider merger between Churches
Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. and GSB Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. held on
Tuesday July 19, 2011 at 8-10 Eureka Road, Kingston 5. Cont’d

Mr. Perryn Smith asked about the implication regarding branch locations and its effect on the staff
complement.  Mr. Hill emphasized that that our locations will remain in effect for the most part due to the
fact that additional business will need to be facilitated at the different service areas; staffing will also be
looked at to determine requirements. 

At this point Mr. Hill welcomed 1st Vice President Mr. Johnathan Brown and introduced him also as
President of the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League. A comment was made by a member that she
desired to see more of the Board members and CEO within Branches. The President explained that due to
the nature of the positions they hold, the Board of Directors would not be seen within Branches. He
introduced the CEO to the members again, reminding the members that he is the person to be contacted
regarding major concerns.  

Mr. Hill then invited Mr. McLeod to read the Resolution.   Mr. Mcleod read the Resolution as follows:  

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the Special General Meeting of the Churches Co-operative Credit Union
Limited held on July 19, 2011 at 8-10 Eureka Road, Kingston 5 agrees to the amalgamation of the
Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited with the GSB Co-operative Credit Union Limited. 

It is further agreed that:

1. The rules of the amalgamated society shall be the rules of the merged entity and shall be in
keeping with the Co-operative Societies Act and Regulation. 

2. All members of each amalgamating society, Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited and
GSB Co-operative Credit Union Limited where this resolution shall be members of the
amalgamated society each of whom respectively shall have recorded in the books of the
amalgamated society the like amount of shares, loans, deposit, dividend and interest as are
shown in his or her account in the books of the society in which he or she is a member at the
date of such registration. 

3. The amalgamated society shall be credited with all the assets of the amalgamating society at the
date of registration and shall undertake all the obligations affecting both of the said societies at
such date.

The Registrar, Mr. Gallimore, was then invited to marshal the counting of votes. The motion was moved by
Dwayne Lewis and seconded by Gavern Tate.  The Chairman reminded the members that we need to have
75% of the members present and voting in favour of the resolution for it to be passed. 

Voting Process

Mr. Gallimore confirmed that two other officers, Mr. Clarke and Ms. Little counted the number of members
present to be 222. 167 persons were therefore needed to vote for the resolution for it to pass. He explained
to the members how to complete the ballot papers. Ballot papers were collected thereafter. No abstentions
were noted. 

During the counting process, the Chairman invited Mr. Johnathan Brown to update the meeting on plans
within the League and the League’s perspective on the evening’s proceedings. 
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Minutes of the Special General Meeting to consider merger between Churches
Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. and GSB Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. held on
Tuesday July 19, 2011 at 8-10 Eureka Road, Kingston 5. Cont’d

Mr. Brown spoke on the Bank of Jamaica’s pending Credit Union regulations and that five issues still
remained:

1. Inactive accounts over 15 years must be handed over to the Government
2. A new credit union must need to have start-up capital of $5M
3. A credit union must have a cash reserve ratio- with the Bank of Jamaica. 
4. Unsecured credit-   should not be more than 10% of the loan portfolio. 
5. The time to meet the start- up capital should be 1-2 years instead of 4 years which was
previously held.

At this point, the result for the ballot counting was ready. Mr. Gallimore reported the following:
• 2 spoilt ballots
• 36- No
• 272- Yes

With this result, the resolution to merge was passed. 

The Chairman thanked Mr. Gallimore for the role he played and reminded the members that the members
of GSB had received their approval from their members earlier that day, and as such, the process toward
the merger was now underway. He thanked all for coming and taking the time out to participate in the
process. He reminded all that the merger would place the credit unions in a better position to offer more
affordable products and a wider range of services to the membership. 

A motion for the adjournment was asked. Mr. Perryn Smith moved and Ms. Pearlita Barnaby seconded. 

Adjournment

Meeting was adjourned by at 5:20 p.m.
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CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETIES ACT
SPECIAL RESOLUTION FOR THE AMALGAMATION OF CHURCHES 
CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED AS A GROUP and 
GSB CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH SECTION 53 OF THE ACT

It is hereby resolved that the Special General Meeting of Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited held
on July 19, 2011 at 8 – 10 Eureka Road, Kingston 5 having agreed to amalgamation of the Churches 
Co-operative Credit Union Limited as a Group with GSB Co-operative Credit Union Limited by Special
Resolution, which has been duly accepted by the Registrar of Co-operative Societies in compliance with
the Co-operative Societies Act, hereby agrees at this Special General Meeting on the 5th of June 2012, 
at the Wyndham Kingston, to the following final conditions to complete the Amalgamation process:

1. The name of the amalgamated Society shall be First Heritage Co-operative Credit Union Limited.

2. The Registered Head Office of the amalgamated Society shall be at 8 – 10 Eureka Road, Kinston 5 in
the parish of St. Andrew.

3. The Rules of First Heritage Co-operative Credit Union Limited shall be as shown in the attachment and
numbered 1-77.

4. The effective date of amalgamation and registration of the amalgamated Society shall be the 1st of
August, 2012.

Moved By: ______________________________

Seconded By:  ______________________________ 

Date:______________________________________
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Treasurer’s Report

I am pleased to present the Treasurer’s Report to the Special General Meeting of the Churches Co-
operative Credit Union Ltd. for the financial year ended December 31, 2011.

The financial year 2011 was earmarked as another year filled with  many challenges for our economy, with
the most significant impact being the effects of the global recession emanating from as far as 2008.  There
were increases in inflation rates, further increases in unemployment rates, rapid decline in interest rates
(which was one of the mechanism utilized by the Bank of Jamaica to assist in regulating the economy).   

These factors among others, led to heightened delinquency levels for our members as they were unable to
maintain their loan obligations and reduction in investment income due to declining investment rates.
There has also been  a significant fall off in savings intake and loan demand for the last two years, as many
members sought to make good their indebtedness with current savings, redundancy payments due to
unemployment and increase inflation rates and a general contraction in the overall  level of spending in the
economy.  However, we would like to remind you our members of the significant impact that past due loans
has had on the Credit Union’s performance and the effect on the returns we would like to offer you our
members.

Impact on the Credit Union:

• Increased expenses for provision for bad loans

• Lower surpluses

• Lower dividend payments

Impact on our members:

• Penalty fees charges and other costs associated with past due accounts

• Loss of valuable assets (cash, real estate, motor vehicles, etc.) which you our members will never
be able to replace.

We continue to appeal to our members to come in and talk to us as soon as you are experiencing problems
in repaying your loans. We can find a beneficial solution in most cases as we strive to be the caring place
to grow.

Amidst the many challenges faced by the financial sector in 2011, the Credit Union has once again seen
another successful year in achieving a Consolidated Net Surplus of $113.27M compared to $116.73M
(2010) 

The Credit Union continues to identify and execute new strategies as measures in achieving its
performance objectives.  This was also done in an effort to achieve the institutions aim of excellence and a
higher levels of customer satisfaction.  We strive to improve and maintain our strategies to assist our
members who experienced difficulties in servicing their loan payments, introduction of our on-line banking
facility, closer monitoring and containment of our operating expenditure and closing the liquidity gap.

At the beginning of the fiscal year 2011, inflation rate was 11.7% closing the year at 6%.  Average interest
rate on repos invested commenced the year at an average rate of 7.33% and trended down to an average
low of 6.4% at year end 2011. This was due to the intervention of the Central Bank, as a measure to
regulate the economy and to improve GDP.  The United States Dollar traded against the Jamaican dollar at
$86.75 at year-end 2011 which was a 1.03% appreciation compared to the $85.86 traded at year end 2010. 

The Net International Reserves at December 2011 was US$1.967B compared to $2.14B at December
2010; this reflected overall decline of 8.8% in the economy.
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Treasurer’s Report Cont’d

The Central Bank’s position in assuming the role of supervisor of Credit Union Movement has still not been
approved to date. The Bank of Jamaica continues its supervisory role by examining our financial reports
and conducting periodic audit reviews to date. It is still anticipated that this will materialize in the very near
future.. 

Over the years we have measured our performance against prudential financial standards for safety and
soundness (PEARLS), which is currently monitored by the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League as
well as other Bank of Jamaica’s prudential requirements. 

The Credit Union continues to formulate strategies to grow its Capital Base over the years.    Approval by
the membership to increase Permanent Share Capital for 2008-2009 and to forgo a dividend payment for
2009 in order to build the Capital base were among the strategies for increasing our Capital base plus an
annual transfer of 30% of our Net Surplus.  

The Credit Union’s Institutional Capital to Total Asset - ratio was 14.4% at December 31, 2011 this was
14% at December 31, 2010.  

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Net Surplus for the year was $113.27M compared to $116.73M for 2010.  This was $3.46M below the
performance for 2010.  

Interest Income grew by $14.27M, while there was savings in Interest expenses of $27.71M on account of
a reduction in interest expenses due to falling interest rates.  There was an increase in loan impairment
provision of $5.91M on account of the challenges our members were faced with in making good their loan
repayments.  Non-Interest Income was $122.242M an increase of $39.06M over 2010 ($83.18M)

Operating expenses was $578.36M an increase of $49.44M or 9.3% over 2010 ($528.9M).  The Credit
Union continued to apply close monitoring and containment strategies in managing its operating expenses
for 2011.  

ASSETS

Total assets increased by $233.5M or 5.4%, moving from $4.3B to $4.54B at December 31, 2011.  Major
contributor to this increase was the growth in Loan portfolio of $346.24 or 11.6%.
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Treasurer’s Report Cont’d

The Credit Union’s performance against the PEARLS Standard is set out below:

INSURANCE

For the year, the Credit Union maintained Fidelity and Life Saving and Loan Protection coverage with Cuna
Mutual Insurance Company Limited at a cost of $2.46M and $21.6M respectively.

CONCLUSION

The Credit Union has proven its resilience in performing  in challenging times for 2011.   With the ever
emerging strategies in place we are confident that the Credit Union is well aligned to forge ahead for the
future irrespective of the challenges or opportunities that are ahead.  We are confident that with the
continued dedication, hard work and enthusiasm of our staff and volunteers and with the strategies in place
we will be able to accomplish these goals and objectives.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am grateful to be afforded the opportunity to serve as Treasurer for yet another year.  I wish to commend
the hardworking and dedicated staff and volunteers for another year’s commitment and hard work.

On behalf of the Board of Directors let me convey my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the
management and staff in achieving the expectations of the Credit Union for the year 2011..  Thanks to my
fellow Directors and Committee members who has sacrificed their unwavering time and expertise.

Appreciation to our Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Registrar of Cooperative Societies, Cuna Mutual
Insurance Society, NUCS Co-operative and Insurance Society and the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union
League for their professional assistance and guidance provided throughout the year.

Finally, let me extend thanks to our membership for the considerable support and patronage given
throughout the year.  We stand resolu  te and committed to continue to embark on strategies and objectives
in improving the level of service to you.

__________________________
Mr. Balvi     n Vanriel
Treasurer

 
KEY  AREAS 2011 2010 

 
INC/DEC   INC/DEC 

  
$' 

Million 
$' 

Million 
$' 

Million  %  

Share  Capital 1,420 1,407 13 (0) 

Member Fixed Deposits 1,147 1,172 (25) (2) 

Member Other Deposits 772   674 98 15 

Loans(net of provision) 3,326 2,979 347 12 

Net Interest & Other Income 724 673 51 8 

Interest on Members Loans 651    637 14 2 
Interest earned on Other 
Investment 60 90 (30) (33) 

Interest paid on Fixed Deposits 53     86 40 47 

Operating Expenses 578   528 50 9 

Net Surplus 113   117 (4) 3 

Total Assets 4,538 4,303 235 5 

Total Liabilities –inc. Vol. Shares 3,620 3,503 117 3 

Statutory Reserves 322    287 35 12 
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Treasurer’s Report Cont’d
         

   
    

2011  2010  
INCREASE 

(DECREASE)  
$  $  $ % 

 $' 000  WE  THE  MEMBERS  OWN  $' 000    $' 000   

      

1,419,727  SHARES  1,407,376  12,351 0 

        7,440  INTEREST ACCRUED ON DEPOSITS       11,233  (3,793) (34) 

    772,042  ORDINARY  DEPOSITS     673,997  98,045 15 

1,139,506  OTHER  DEPOSITS  1,160,377  (20,871) 2 

3,338,715  3,252,983  85,732 3 

  WE ALSO OWN      

321,644  STATUTORY & LEGAL  RESERVES      287,243  34,401 12 

541,970  RETAINED EARNINGS & OTHER RESERVES      496,225  45,745 9 

  53,182  UNDISTRIBUTED SURPLUS        17,492  35,690 204 

   4,255,511 
 MAKING THE GRAND TOTAL OWNED BY 

MEMBERS  4,053,943  201,568 5 

  WE USED THIS MONEY IN       

 THE FOLLOWING MANNER     

3,325,566  LOANS TO US AS MEMBERS  2,979,309  346,257 12 

     68,406   OTHER RECEIVABLES       55,346  13,060 24 

544,901  CASH IN HAND AND AT BANK      684,596  (139,695) (20) 

358,361  TO PURCHASE ASSETS      316,228  42,133 13 

231,364  INVESTMENT IN OTHERS      262,292  (30,928) (12) 

6,244  TO PURCHASE INVENTORIES         5,298      946 18 

4,534,842  4,303,069  231,773 5 

 279,331 
 LESS:AMOUNT WE OWED TO OTHERS AT YEAR 

END     249,126  (30,205) 12 

4,255,511 
 AGREEING OUR NET INVESTMENT WITH OUR 

GRAND TOTAL OWNED  4,053,943  201,568 5 
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Treasurer’s Report Cont’d

2011 OUR INCOME 2010
INCREASE 

(DECREASE)

$ WAS EARNED FROM $ $ %

INTEREST ON

651,145                MEMBERS LOANS 596,235             54,910               9          

INTEREST ON

54,378                  OTHER INVESTMENTS 88,325               (33,947)              (38)       

2,183                   RENTAL INCOME 1,525                 658                    43        

123,831                OTHER INCOME 123,368             463                    0          

831,537                809,453             22,084               3          
 OUR COST TO OPERATE THE  

CREDIT UNION WERE

497,853                ADMINISTRATION 465,079             32,774               7          

41,384                  ESTABLISHMENT 34,665               6,719                 19        

109,435                FINANCIAL 137,151             (27,716)              (20)       

32,586                  PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS 27,675               4,911                 18        

37,377                  REPRESENTATION & AFFILIATION 28,222               9,155                 32        

718,635                692,792             25,843               4          

112,902                GIVING A NET SURPLUS OF 116,661             (3,759)                (3)         

FROM WHICH WE SET ASIDE

33,871                  30% STATUTORY RESERVE 34,998               (1,128)                (3)         
OF CREDIT UNION'S SURPLUS

79,031                  LEAVING A NET SURPLUS OF 81,663               (2,631)                (3)         

TO WHICH WE ADD THE

PREVIOUS RESTATED UNDISTRIBUTED

17,492                  SURPLUS CARRIED OVER 98,155               (80,663)              (82)       

(43,341)                 LESS: TRANSFER TO RESERVES (162,326)            118,985              (73)       

MAKING A GRAND TOTAL UNDISTRIBUTED 
SURPLUS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION

53,182                  BY MEMBERS IN THE AGM 17,492               35,690               204       

CHURCHES  CO-OPERATIVE  CREDIT  UNION  LIMITED
TREASURERS  REPORT

31 DECEMBER  2011
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Proposal for Distribution of Surplus

The Board of Directors recommends that the surplus of $53,182,000 be distributed as follows:

2011
$’000

10% - Permanent Share Dividend 7,762

Transfer to Permanent Share Reserve 500 

Scholarship Fund 420

Eureka Charities 50

Oswald Thorbourne Scholarship 250

Spanish Town Charities 50

May Pen Charities 50

Mandeville Charities 50

Portmore Charities 50

Lawrence Tavern Charities 50 

Montego Bay Charities 50

Best Care Foundation 50

St. Francis Primary & Infant School 50

St. Stephen’s Church Clinic 50

Redeemer Moravian Church 50

Lyndhurst Methodist Church 50

Glen Vincent Clinic 50

Glen Hope Place of Safety (Maxfield Avenue) 50

Poly Ground Primary School 50
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Proposal for Distribution of Surplus Cont’d

50 Basic School Charities 2,500

Caribbean Confederation of Credit Unions 87

All Saints Anglican 50

National Chest Hospital 0

Honoraria 1,000

International year of the Co-operatives 250

Miscellaneous Charities 500

Transferred to Retained Earning Reserves 39,113

53,182

•  A  2% Dividend payment on Ordinary Shares of $26,080,000 is also recommended for your 
approval.
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Independent Auditors' Report 

To the Registrar of Co-operative Societies 
Re: Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited  
 
 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
and its subsidiary (the Group), set out on pages 1 to 68, which comprise the consolidated and credit union 
statement of financial position as of 31 December 2011 and the consolidated and credit union statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.  

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
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Registrar of Co-operative Societies 
Re: Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Independent Auditors’ Report  
Page 2 
 
 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and the credit union as of 31 December 2011, and of the financial performance and cash flows of 
the Group and the credit union for the year then ended, so far as concerns the members of the credit 
union, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
As required by the Co-operative Societies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for all purposes of our audit. 
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our explanation of those 
records, and the accompanying financial statements are in agreement therewith and give the information 
required by the Act, in the manner so required. 
 
 

 
 
Chartered Accountants 
 
30 March 2012 
Kingston, Jamaica  
 

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:45 PM  Page 17



Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited | Special General Meeting | 18 |

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:45 PM  Page 18



  1 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 Note  
2011 

  

Reclassified 
2010 

 

Interest Income      

Loans and advances    651,145  636,878 

Investments   60,446  90,463 

   711,591  727,341 

Interest Expense      

Savings deposit   66,649  101,513 

External credit 5  16,706  9,309 

   26,080  26,329 

   109,435  137,151 

Net Interest Income   602,156  590,190 

Loan impairment provision, net of recoveries 15  (32,586)  (27,675) 

Net Interest Income after Impairment Losses on Loans   569,570  562,515 

Non-interest Income      

Fee and commission income 6  99,408  74,824 

Cambio operations    1,500  1,647 

Dividend income from League shares   1,188  2,907 

Other income  7  20,137  3,801 

Net Interest and Other Income   691,803  645,694 

Operating expenses 8  578,356  528,924 

Surplus before Taxation   113,447  116,770 

Taxation 10  (181)  (37) 

Net Surplus for the Year   113,266  116,733 

Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxation      

Unrealised fair value gains on available-for-sale investments   1,420  6,274 

Total Comprehensive Income   114,686  123,007 
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  2 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

  Note  
    2011  

  
2010 

 

ASSETS        

Earning Assets       

Liquid assets - deposits  11  124,795  69,464 

Liquid assets  short-term investments  12  201,565  196,524 

Reverse repurchase agreements  13  145,468  418,394 

Financial investments  14  275,503  277,501 

Loans to members   15  3,325,566  2,979,309 

    4,072,897  3,941,192 

Non-Earning Assets       

Cash in hand and at bank    87,564  36,930 

Accounts receivable  16  54,104  42,485 

Inventories    6,244  5,298 

Assets held for sale  17  -  5,382 

Withholding tax recoverable    8,750  6,921 

    156,662  97,016 

Property, plant and equipment  17  180,612  153,431 

Retirement benefit asset  18  127,749  112,797 

    465,023  363,244 

    4,537,920  4,304,436 
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  4 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 Note  

Institutional 
Capital 

 

  Non-
Institutional 

Capital 
 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

 
Total 

 
Balance at 1 January 2010   468,082 111,610 98,155 677,847 
Total comprehensive income   6,274 - 116,733 123,007 

Transactions with owners       
Transfer of permanent share dividend   - - (4,710) (4,710) 
Appropriations from 2009 surplus       
Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 24  548 - - 548 
Issue of permanent shares 24  7,524 - - 7,524 
Transfer to reserves 24  84,992 - (84,992) - 
Other transfers   - - (2,990) (2,990) 
Appropriations from 2010 surplus -        

Transfer to statutory reserves 24  34,998 - (34,998) - 

Transfer to other reserves 25  - 69,634 (69,634) - 

Balance at 31 December 2010   602,418 181,244 17,564 801,226 
Total comprehensive income   1,420 - 113,266 114,686 

Transaction with owners       
Transfer of permanent share dividend   - - (6,772) (6,772) 
Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 24  758 - (758) - 
Issue of permanent shares 24  8,307 - - 8,307 
Appropriations from 2010 surplus -       
Transfer to reserves 24  8,207 - (8,207) - 
Appropriations from 2011 surplus -        

Transfer to statutory reserves 24  33,643 - (33,643) - 

Transfer to other reserves 25  - 27,332 (27,332) - 

Permanent share reserve   500 - (500) - 
Balance at 31 December 2011   655,253 208,576 53,618 917,447 
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  5 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 
 
 

  Institutional Capital 

 

 
 
Note 

Retained 
Earnings 
Reserve 

 

 Permanent 
        Shares 

 

Statutory 
Reserve 

 

Permanent 
Share 

Reserve 
 

Investment 
Reserve 

 

Capital 
Reserve 

 

Special 
Reserve 

 

 
Total 

 

Balance at 1 January 2010 
 

114,165 67,173 251,697 - 20,500 14,222  325 468,082 

Appropriations from 2009 
surplus -  

 

        

Transfer of reserves 
 
84,992 - - - - - - 84,992 

Increase in investment  
reserve 

 

- - - - 6,274 - - 6,274 

Appropriation from 2010 surplus 
- 

 

        

30% statutory reserve 
 

- - 34,998 - - - - 34,998 

Entrance fees 
 

- - 548 - - - - 548 

Increase in permanent shares 
 

- 7,524 - - - - - 7,524 
Balance at 31 December  

2010 24 199,157 74,697 287,243 - 26,774 14,222  325 602,418 
Appropriations from 2010 

surplus -  
 

        

Transfer of reserves 
 

8,207 - - - - - - 8,207 

Increase in investment  
reserve  

 

- - - - 1,420 - - 1,420 

Appropriation from 2011 surplus 
- 

 

        

30% statutory reserve 
 

- - 33,643 - - - - 33,643 

Entrance fees 
 

- - 758 - - - - 758 

Permanent share reserve 
 

- - - 500 - - - 500 

Increase in permanent shares 
 

- 8,307 - - - - - 8,307 
Balance at 31 December 

 2011 24 207,364 83,004 321,644 500 28,194 14,222  325 655,253 
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  6 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 
 Non-Institutional Capital 

 

 

 Note 

Retirement 
Benefit Asset 

Reserve 
 

Loan Loss 
Reserve 

 
Total 

 

Balance at 1 January 2010  
   

76,607 35,003 111,610 

Transfers from Accumulated Surplus         

Increase in retirement benefits   25 36,190 - 36,190 

Increase in loan loss reserve   25 -  33,444 33,444 

    36,190 33,444 69,634 

Balance at 31 December 2010    112,797 68,447 181,244 

Transfers from Accumulated Surplus         

Increase in retirement benefits   25 14,952 - 14,952 

Increase in loan loss reserve   25 - 12,380 12,380 

    14,952 12,380 27,332 

Balance at 31 December 2011    127,749 80,827 208,576 
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  7 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 
 

 
2011 

  
2010 

 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities      
Interest received   709,926  751,448 
Interest paid   (113,476)  (124,626) 
Fee and commission income   99,408  74,824 
Recoveries on impaired loans   (40,248)  (32,563) 
Payment to employees and suppliers   (584,179)  (491,504) 
Other income, net   15,785  33,878 
    87,216  211,457 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities -      
Loans   (329,682)  (257,629) 
Other assets   (9,012)  (3,636) 
Retirement benefit asset   (14,952)  (36,190) 

   77,173  158,252 
Voluntary shares   12,600  (17,511) 
CuCash deposits   (27,291)  (4,365) 
Other liabilities    7,425  162 
Cash (used in)/provided by operating activities   (196,523)  50,540 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Short-term investments   (5,041)  26,332 
Financial investments   2,417  3,309 
Reverse repurchase agreements   339,181  (132,147) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (50,509)  (64,418) 
Cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   286,048  (166,924) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Share capital   2,955  (1,252) 
External credit   53,065  142,489 
Cash provided by financing activities   56,020  141,237 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   3,330  (22,237) 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   148,875  2,616 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   37,650    35,034 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year   186,525  37,650 
Represented by:      
Cash in hand and at bank   87,564  36,930 
Bank savings deposits (Note 11)   1,049  720 
Fixed deposits (Note 11)   27,700  - 
Repurchase agreements (less than 3 months)   70,212  - 
   186,525  37,650 
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  8 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Credit Union Statement of Comprehensive Income  
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 

 Note  
2011 

  

Reclassified 
2010 

 

Interest Income      

Loans and advances    651,145  636,878 

Investments    54,378  88,325 

   705,523  725,203 

Interest Expense      

Savings deposit   66,649  101,513 

External credit 5  16,706  9,309 

   26,080  26,329 

   109,435  137,151 

Net Interest Income   596,088  588,052 

Loan impairment provision, net of recoveries 15  (32,586)  (27,675) 

Net Interest Income after Impairment Losses on Loans   563,502  560,377 

Non-interest Income      

Fee and commission income 6  101,809  75,224 

Cambio operations    1,500  1,647 

Dividend income from League shares   1,188  2,907 

Other income  7  21,517  4,472 

Net Interest and Other Income   689,516  644,627 

Operating expenses 8  576,614  527,966 

Net Surplus   112,902  116,661 

Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxation      

Unrealised fair value gains on available-for-sale investments   1,399  6,080 

Total Comprehensive Income   114,301  122,741 
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  9 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Credit Union Statement of Financial Position 
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 
 

  Note  
    2011  

  
2010 

 

ASSETS        

Earning Assets       

Liquid assets  deposits  11  97,095  69,464 

Liquid assets  short-term investments  12  201,565  196,524 

Reverse repurchase agreements  13  199,269  381,844 

Financial investments  14  231,364  262,292 

Loans to members   15  3,325,566  2,979,309 

    4,054,859  3,889,433 

Non-Earning Assets       

Cash in hand and at bank    46,972  36,764 

Accounts receivable  16  61,383  43,583 

Inventories    6,244  5,298 

Asset held for sale  17  -  5,382 

Withholding tax recoverable    7,023  6,381 

    121,622  97,408 

Property, plant and equipment  17  180,612  153,431 

Investment in subsidiary    50,000  50,000 

Retirement benefit asset  18  127,749  112,797 

    479,983  413,636 

    4,534,842  4,303,069 
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  11 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Credit Union Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 Note  

Institutional 
Capital 

 

  Non-
Institutional 

Capital 
 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

 
Total 

 
Balance at 1 January 2010   468,082 111,610 98,155 677,847 
Total comprehensive income   6,080 - 116,661 122,741 
Transaction with owners -       
Transfer of permanent share dividend   - - (4,710) (4,710) 
Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 24  548 - - 548 
Issue of permanent shares 24  7,524 - - 7,524 
Appropriations from 2009 surplus -       
Transfer to reserves 24  84,992 - (84,992) - 
Other transfers   - - (2,990) (2,990) 
Appropriations from 2010 surplus -        
Transfer to statutory reserves 24  34,998 - (34,998) - 
Transfer to other reserves 25  - 69,634 (69,634) - 

Balance at 31 December 2010   602,224 181,244 17,492 800,960 
Total comprehensive income   1,399 - 112,902 114,301 
Transaction with owners -       
Transfer of permanent share dividend   - - (6,772) (6,772) 
Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 24  758 - (758) - 
Issue of permanent shares 24  8,307 - - 8,307 
Appropriations from 2010 surplus -       
Transfer to reserves 24  8,207 - (8,207) - 
Other transfers   - - - - 
Appropriations from 2011 surplus -        

Transfer to statutory reserves 24  33,643 - (33,643) - 

Transfer to other reserves 25  - 27,332 (27,332) - 
Permanent share reserve   500 - (500) - 
Balance at 31 December 2011   655,038 208,576 53,182 916,796 
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  12 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Credit Union Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

  Institutional Capital 

 

 
 

Note 

Retained 
Earnings 
Reserve 

 

 Permanent 
        Shares 

 

Statutory 
Reserve 

 

Permanent 
Share 

Reserve 
 

Investment 
Reserve 

 

Capital 
Reserve 

 

Special 
Reserve 

 

 
Total 

 
Balance at 1 January 

2010 
 

114,165 67,173 251,697 - 20,500 14,222  325 468,082 

Appropriations from 2009 
surplus -  

 
        

Transfer of reserves 
 

84,992 - - - - - - 84,992 

Increase in investment 
reserve 

 

- - - - 6,080 - - 6,080 
Appropriation from 2010 

surplus - 
 

   -     

30% statutory reserve 
 

- - 34,998 - - - - 34,998 

Entrance fees 
 

- - 548 - - - - 548 
Increase in permanent 

shares 
 

- 7,524 - - - - - 7,524 
Balance at 31 December 

2010 24 199,157 74,697 287,243 - 26,580 14,222  325 602,224 
Appropriations from 2010 

surplus -  
 

        

Transfer of reserves 
 
8,207 - - - - - - 8,207 

Increase  in investment 
reserve  

 

- - - - 1,399 - - 1,399 
Appropriation from 2011 

surplus - 
 

        

30% statutory reserve 
 

- - 33,643 - - - - 33,643 

Entrance fees 
 

- - 758 - - - - 758 

Permanent share reserve 
 

- - - 500 - - - 500 

Increase in permanent 
shares 

 
- 8,307 - - - - - 8,308 

Balance at 31 December 
2011 24 207,364 83,004 321,644 500 27,979 14,222  325 655,038 
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  13 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Credit Union Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 Non-Institutional Capital 

 

 

 Note 

Retirement 
Benefit Asset 

Reserve 
 

Loan Loss 
Reserve 

 
Total 

 

Balance at 1 January 2010  
   

76,607 35,003 111,610 

Transfers from Accumulated Surplus         

Increase in retirement benefits   25 36,190 - 36,190 

Increase in loan loss reserve   25 -  33,444 33,444 

    36,190 33,444 69,634 

Balance at 31 December 2010    112,797 68,447 181,244 

Transfers from Accumulated Surplus         

Increase in retirement benefits   25 14,952 - 14,952 

Increase in loan loss reserve   25 - 12,380 12,380 

    14,952 12,380 27,332 

Balance at 31 December 2011    127,749 80,827 208,576 
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Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Credit Union Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 

  
 

2011 
  

2010 
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      
Interest received   704,451  708,772 
Interest paid   (113,476)  (124,626) 
Fee and commission income   101,809  115,867 
Recoveries on impaired loans   (40,248)  (32,563) 
Payment to employees and suppliers   (567,492)  (490,946) 
Other income, net   17,165  34,949 
    102,209  211,453 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities -      
Loans   (329,682)  (257,629) 
Other assets   (14,006)  (3,096) 
Retirement benefit asset   (14,952)  (36,190) 

   77,173  158,252 
Voluntary shares   12,600  (17,511) 
CuCash deposits   (27,302)  (4,365) 
Other liabilities    (8,654)  (1,903) 
Cash (used in)/provided by operating activities   (202,614)  49,011 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Short-term investments   (5,041)  26,332 
Financial investments   30,799  18,227 
Reverse repurchase agreements   178,573  (95,702) 
Investment in subsidiary   -  (50,000) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (50,509)  (64,418) 
Cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   153,822  (165,561) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Share capital   2,934  (1,252) 
External credit   53,065  142,489 
Cash provided by financing activities   55,999  141,237 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   3,330  (22,237) 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   10,537  2,450 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   37,484  35,034 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year   48,021  37,484 
Represented by:      
Cash in hand and at bank   46,972  36,764 
Bank savings deposits (Note 11)   1,049  720 
   48,021  37,484 
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  15 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

1. Identification and Activities 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) is incorporated under the laws of Jamaica and 
is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act.  The Credit Union
Road, Kingston, Jamaica.  

Membership in the Credit Union should be at least one 
voluntary share and one permanent share. Voluntary shares are deposits available for withdrawal on demand, 
while permanent shares are paid in cash and invested in risk capital, and are transferrable only to another 
member. Individual membership may not exceed 20% of the total of the mem Credit Union. 

The main activities of the Credit Union are to promote thrift amongst its members by affording them an opportunity 
to accumulate their savings and to create for them a source of credit, for provident or productive purpose at 
reasonable rates of interest. 

The Co-operative Societies Act requires, amongst other provisions, that at least 20% of the net surplus made 
each year by the Credit Union be transferred annually to a reserve fund. Section 59 of the Act provides for the 
exemption from income tax and stamp duty for the Credit Union. 

The Credit Union s operations are located in the parishes of Kingston, St. Andrew, Clarendon, St. Catherine, St. 
James and Manchester.  

The Credit Union has a wholly-owned subsidiary, CCU Investments Limited which is incorporated and 
domiciled in Jamaica. Its principal activities include investment management services. 

 
The Credit Union and its subsidiary, are  

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs), have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial assets. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Credit Union
knowledge of current events and action, actual results could differ from those estimates. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 
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Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current year 

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that 
became effective during the current financial year. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards, interpretations and amendments and has put into effect the following amendments, which are 
immediately relevant to its operations. 

 (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2011). This amendment clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of other 
comprehensive income for each component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or in 
the notes to the financial statements. This amendment is applied retrospectively. The Group has elected 
to continue analysis of other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity. 
 

 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011). The revised standard clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and removes 
the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government 
and other government-related entities. The Group does not include any government-related entities and 
is, therefore, not impacted by that aspect of the revision. The Group has adopted the revised standard 
from 1 January 2011, however there has been no significant impact on its related party disclosures.  
 
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011). 
This amendment clarifies the disclosure requirement by emphasising the interaction between quantitative 
and qualitative disclosures and the nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments. 
Amendments were made to quantitative and credit risk disclosures. The adoption of this amendment will 
result in changes in the presentation of credit risk disclosures. 
 
There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective that 
would be expected to have a significant impact on the Group. 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted 

The Group has concluded that the following standards which are published but not yet effective, are 
relev
discussed below. These pronouncements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after the dates 
noted, and will be applied by the Group as of those dates, unless otherwise noted. 

IAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of financial . The 
amendment requires entities to group items presented in other comprehensive income (OCI) on the basis 
of whether they are potentially recyclable to net surplus, and changes. The amendment does not address 
which items should be presented in OCI, and the option to present items of OCI either before tax or net of 
tax has been retained. The only anticipated impact on adoption is to the disclosure of items presented in 
OCI in the statement of comprehensive income. Management is assessing the impact of adoption on the 
Group. 
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Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted (continued) 

IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee b  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013). The impact on the Group will be as follows: to eliminate the corridor approach and recognise all 
actuarial gains and losses in OCI as they occur; to immediately recognise all past service costs; and to 
replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a net interest amount that is calculated by 
applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability (asset). The Group intends to adopt the 
amendments to IAS 19 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

 
IFRS 9, Financial (effective on or after 1 January 2015). IFRS 9, Financial instruments - 
Part 1: Classification and Measurement was issued in November 2010 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 
relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets. Key features are as follows:  

 
 Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured 
subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be 
made at initial recognition. The cl
financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.  

 
An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both the 

nstruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for 
trading will be measured at fair value through net surplus. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable 
election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses 
through other comprehensive income rather than net surplus. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains 
and losses to net surplus. This election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are 
to be presented in net surplus, as long as they represent a return on investment.  While adoption of IFRS 9 
is mandatory from 1 January 2015, earlier adoption is permitted.  
 
The next phase of IFRS 9 deals with financial liabilities. Amortised cost accounting for most financial 
liabilities is retained, with bifurcation of embedded derivatives. The main change is that in cases where the 
fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity's own credit 
risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than net surplus, unless this creates an accounting 
mismatch.  The company is considering the implications of the standard, the impact on the financial 
statements and the timing of its adoption. 
 
IFRS 10, Consolidated financial (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2013). The objective of IFRS 10 is to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of 
consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entity (an entity that controls 
one or more other entities) to present consolidated financial statements. The standard defines the principle 
of control, and establishes controls as the basis for consolidation. It also sets out how to apply the principle 
of control to identify whether an investor controls an investee and therefore must consolidate the investee, 
and it sets out the accounting requirements for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. 
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Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted (continued) 

 
IFRS 13,  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 
IFRS 13 aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value 
and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The 
requirements, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be 
applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards, for both financial instruments and 
non-financial instruments. IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value 
disclosures; it does not say when to measure fair value or require additional fair value measurements. In 
general, the disclosure requirements of IFRS 13 are more extensive than those required in current 
standards. The Group anticipates that application will impact amounts reported in the financial statements, 
as well as result in extended disclosures. Management is assessing the impact of adoption on the Group. 
 

(b) Basis of consolidation 
 
Consolidation of subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of 
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from 
the date that control ceases. 
 
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the 
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquire either at 
fair value or at the non-  

 
 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of the subsidiary have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 
(c) Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest-
bearing instruments on an accrual basis, using the effective yield method, based on the actual purchase 
price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and accrued discounts or 
premiums on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.  

         
Where collection of interest income is considered doubtful, the related financial instruments are written down 
to their recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter recognised based on the rate of interest that 
was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(d) Fee and commission income 
Fee and commission income are recognised on an accrual basis. Loan origination fees are deferred and 
are recognised over the life of the loan, as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loans and shown with 
interest income earned on loans. 
 

(e) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entities operate. The Group
environment is Jamaica, and as such, its functional currency which is also its presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange  
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in net surplus or deficit in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
  

(f) Taxation 
Taxation expense in the statement of comprehensive income comprises current and deferred tax for the 

-operative Societies Act, which governs 
the operations of the Credit Union, provides for the exemption from income tax and stamp duty for the 
Credit Union.  
 
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income tax expense or benefit in net surplus except, where 
they relate to items recorded in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case they are also 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or equity.  Taxation is based on profit for the year 
adjusted for taxation purposes at 33 1/3%. 
 
(i)   Current taxation   
  Current tax is the expected taxation payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted at the year-end date, and any adjustment to tax payable and tax losses in respect of the 
previous years. 

 
(ii)  Deferred income taxes 
  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities and their amounts as measured for tax purposes, which will result in taxable 
amounts in future periods.  Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising from 
investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised for temporary differences which will result in deductible amounts in future 
periods, but only to the extent it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against 
which these differences can be utilised. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the asset will be realised or the liability will be settled based on enacted rates.  

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise from the same taxable entity, relate to the 
same tax authority and when the legal right of offset exists. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Financial instruments 
 

The Group allocates financial assets to the following IAS 39 categories: loans and receivables, available-
for-sale and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Management determines the classification 
of its financial instruments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 

 
(a) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market, other than those that the Group:  
 
(i)   intends to sell immediately or in the short term , which are classified as held for trading, and those 

that the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; 
 
(ii) upon initial recognition, designates as available-for-sale; or 
 
(iii) may not recover substantially other than because of credit deterioration. 

 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value  which is the cash consideration to 
originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs  and measured subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Interest on loans is included in the net surplus and is reported as interest income. In the case of an 
impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and 
recognised in the net surplus as loan impairment provision. 

At the year end date, the following items were classified as: loans and receivables: loans, reverse 
repurchase agreements, cash at bank and on hand and accounts receivable.  

 
(b) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are intended to be held for an 
indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest 
rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables,  
held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration 
including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains 
and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised. They are derecognised when the right to receive 
cash flows has expired or has been transferred, and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risk and rewards of ownership. 

 
If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss is 
recognised in the other comprehensive income. Interest is calculated using the effective interest 
method, and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available for sale are 
recognised in the other comprehensive income. 

At the year end date, the following items were classified as available-for-sale: deposits, short-term 
investments and financial investments. 
 
Fair value determination of financial investments is discussed in Note 4. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial liabilities 
The Group
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. At the year end date, the 

voluntary shares, external credit and accounts payable.  
 

(h) Investment in subsidiary 
Investment in subsidiary is stated at cost. 

 
(i) Investments and deposits 

The Group classifies its investments and deposits as available-for-sale financial assets. Purchases and 
sales of investments are recognised at trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary available-for-sale financial assets are analysed between translation 
differences resulting in changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes. The translation 
differences are recognised in the net surplus in the statement of comprehensive income and other changes 
in the carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Changes in the fair value of non-monetary available-for-sale investments are recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income. 

When financial assets classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled to net surplus as gains 
and losses from investment securities. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets, calculated using the 
effective interest method, is recognised in net surplus. Dividends on available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised in net surplus when the Group  

At year end, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that an investment or group of 
investments is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income, is removed from equity and recognised in net surplus. Impairment losses on 
equity instruments recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are not reversed through the net 
surplus or deficit in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 

(j) Reverse repurchase agreements 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell are recorded as collaterised financing transactions, and 
are classified as loans and receivables financial assets.  The difference between the sale/purchase and 
repurchase/resale price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the 
effective yield method. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(k) Loans 
Loans are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers and are classified as loans and receivables 
financial assets. 

 An allowance for impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts outstanding according to the original contractual terms of the loan.  The amount of the 
allowance is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present 
value of expected cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate of the loans. 

  ere has been deterioration in credit quality 
to the extent that there is no longer reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full amount of principal 
and interest.  If a payment on a loan is contractually two months in arrears, the loan will be classified as 
impaired, if not already classified as such.   

 
 For impaired loans, the accrual of interest income based on the original terms of the loan is discontinued.  

IFRS requires the increase in the present value of impaired loans due to the passage of time to be reported 
as interest income.   

  
 Write-offs are made when all or part of a loan is deemed uncollectible or in the case of debt-forgiveness. 

Write-offs are charged against previously established provisions for impairment losses and reduce the 
principal amount of the loan.  Recoveries, in part or in full, of amounts previously written-off are credited to 
recoveries bad debt in net surplus. 

  
 The Group ent loss provision requirements as stipulated by the Jamaica Co-operative Credit 

Union League (JCCUL/the League), that exceed the IFRS impairment provision are dealt with in a non-
distributable Loan Loss Reserve as an appropriation of Accumulated Surplus. 

 
(l) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at amortised cost, and  
comprise cash in hand and in bank, and deposits not held to satisfy requirements of the League, net of 
bank overdraft, which is carried at amortised cost. 

 
(m) Non-current assets held for sale 

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. 

 
(n) Accounts receivable 

Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value.  An estimate is made for doubtful receivables based 
on all outstanding amounts at year-end.  Bad debts are written off in the year in which they are identified. 

 
(o) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, cost being determined on the  
first-in-first-out basis. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(p) Property, plant and equipment 
Freehold land is stated at historical cost.  All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.   

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis at rates estimated to write off the cost of the assets over 
their expected useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The expected useful lives of the other property, plant and 
equipment are as follows: 

 

    

Buildings  40 years  

Computer equipment   5 years  

Furniture, fixtures and equipment  10 years  

Motor vehicles   8 years  

    

Property, plant and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment.  Where the carrying amount of the 
asset is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount. 

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to carrying 
amounts and are taken into account in determining net surplus. 

Repairs and renewals expenses are charged to net surplus or deficit in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the expenditure is incurred. 
 

(q) Employee benefits 

Retirement benefits 

 The Group participates in a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme.  The pension scheme is 
generally funded by payments from employees and by the Group, taking into account the recommendation of 
independent qualified actuaries.   

 Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 

 The asset or liability in respect of defined benefit plans is the difference between the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the date of the statement of financial position and the fair value of plan assets, 
adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs. Where a pension asset arises, the 
amount recognised is limited to the net total of any cumulative unrecognised net actuarial losses and past 
service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan 
or future reduction in future contributions to the plan. The pension plan costs are assessed using the 
projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the cost of providing pensions is charged to net surplus 
as to spread the regular cost of service over the service lives of the employees in accordance with the 
advice of the actuaries, who carry out a full valuation of the plan every year. The pension obligation is 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows using discount rates based on market 
yields on government securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related 
liability. 
obligations of the plan. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
(q)  Employee benefits (continued) 

Retirement benefits (continued) 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit 
obligation are charged or credited to net surplus 
lives. 

Leave accrual  

The Group
forward for all managerial staff and four weeks for non-managerial staff. The charge for all outstanding leave 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which it relates. 

 
(r)  

 
Permanent shares 
Permanent shares may be transferred by members to another member but are not available for withdrawal. 
Permanent shares are classified as equity. 
 
Voluntary shares 

voluntary shares represent deposit holdings of the Credit Union rs, to satisfy 
membership requirements and to facilitate eligibility for loans and other benefits. These shares are 
classified as financial liabilities. Dividends payable on these shares are determined at the discretion of the 
Credit Union and reported as interest expense in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which they are approved. 
 

(s) Institutional capital 
Institutional capital includes the statutory reserve fund, as well as various other reserves established from 
time to time which, in the opinion of the Directors, are necessary to support the operations of the Credit Union 
and, thereby, protect the interest of the members. These reserves are not available for distribution. 
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3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
 
Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the 
process of applying the Group ng 
estimates or judgements which it believes has a significant risk of causing a material misstatement in these 
financial statements. 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

 has made no significant judgements on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Key source of estimation uncertainty 

        Impairment losses on loans to members 

The Credit Union reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on a monthly basis. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Credit Union makes 
judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated cash flow from the loans. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an 
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers, or national or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults on assets in the Credit Union. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for 
assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when 
scheduling future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing 
of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 
experience. 

Retirement benefit obligations 

The cost of these benefits and the present value of the future obligations depend on a number of factors that are 
determined by actuaries using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net periodic 
cost or income for retirement benefits include the expected long-term rate of return on the relevant plan assets, 
the discount rate and, in the case of health benefits, the expected rate of increase in health costs. Any changes in 
these assumptions will impact the net periodic cost or income recorded for retirement benefits and may affect 
planned funding of the pension plan. The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined on a uniform 
basis, considering long-term historical returns, asset allocation and future estimates of long-term investment 
returns. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year, which represents the 
interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be 
required to settle the retirement benefit obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group 
considered interest rate of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and have terms to maturity approximating  the terms of the related obligations. The expected rate of 
increase of health costs has been determined by comparing the historical relationship of the actual health cost 
increases with the rate of inflation. Other key assumptions for the retirement benefits are based on current market 
conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited | Financial Statements 31 December 2011 | 43 |

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:46 PM  Page 43



  26 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

4. Financial Risk Management 
 
Financial risk factors 

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk (including currency, fair value interest rate, cash 
flow interest rate and price risk) arising from its use of financial instruments throughout its operations. Taking 
risk is core to the financial business, and these risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 
Group minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group ial performance.  

The Group involves the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and 
management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. The Group has established risk management 
policies designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
the risks and adherence to limits by means of regularly generated reports. Risk management procedures are 
closely integrated into all key business processes. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies, 
procedures and systems to reflect recommendations and best practice, as well as changes in markets and 
products. 

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group
management framework. It defines the overall risk profile of the Group by approving its financial policies and 
guidelines, as well as maximum limits for exposure and individual loans.  

 

The Board has established committees/functions for managing and monitoring risks as follows: 

(i) Supervisory and Conduct Committee 

The Supervisory and Conduct Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
Group
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Supervisory and Conduct Committee is 
assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews 
of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Supervisory and 
Conduct Committee. 

(ii) Credit Committee 

The Credit Committee oversees the approval and disbursements of credit facilities to members. It is also 
primarily responsible for monitoring the quality of the loan portfolio. 

(iii) Treasury Committee 

The Treasury Committee is responsible for monitoring the management of the Group
liabilities and the overall financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for managing the funding and 
liquidity risks of the Group. 

(iv) Finance Committee 

The Finance Committee is responsible for monitoring and formulating investment portfolios and 
investment strategies for the Group which include the formulation of appropriate trading limits and reports 
and compliance controls to ensure that their mandate is properly followed. The Finance Committee has 
two sub-committees in that of Treasury and Delinquency. Treasury is responsible for monitoring the 
management of the Group , by extension, the management of funding and 
liquidity risks. The Delinquency committee assesses the adequacy of provisions for non-performing loan 
facilities. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 
 
These committees comprise persons independent of management and report to the Board on a monthly basis. 

The business functions, Lending and Treasury, are responsible for managing risks assumed through their 
operations and for ensuring that an adequate return for the risks taken is achieved. Operations Risk & 
Compliance, Credit Administration and Internal Audit are independent from the departments carrying out the 
Group Operations Risk & Compliance has the overall responsibility for identifying, 
assessing, monitoring and reporting all types of risk inherent in the Group Administration is 
responsible for assessing and monitoring credit risk in the Group seek to ensure that 
credit proposals are in compliance with established limits and policies. Internal Audit provides an independent 
evaluation of the control and risk management processes. Based on regular reporting from these departments, 
the aforementioned committees supervise the Group -taking.  

There have been no significant changes to the Group
manages and measures these risks. 
 
(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the most important risk for the Group
counterparties will cause a financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge their contractual obligations, 
and that any collateral provided does not cover the Group  consequence of the Group
mandate and resulting financial structure, this risk arises principally from the Group  

For loans, credit decisions are primarily made by the Board of Directors, with some delegation of credit 
approval authority to the Credit Committee and certain members of executive management. The Group
credit policy forms the basis for all its lending operations. The policy aims at maintaining a high quality loan 
portfolio, as well as enhancing the Group
acceptable risk and identifies risk areas that require special attention.  

Additionally, the Group is exposed to credit risk in its treasury activities, arising from financial assets that 
the Group uses for investing its liquidity and managing currency and interest rate risks, as well as other 
market risks. There is also credit risk in financial instruments not carried on the statement of financial 
position, such as loan commitments. 
 
Credit review process 

The Group has established a credit quality review process involving regular analysis of the ability of 
borrowers and other counterparties to meet interest and capital repayment obligations.  

Loans  

The Group assesses the probability of default of individual borrowers using internal ratings. The Group 
assesses each borrower on four critical factors. These factors a

stability, based on employment and place of abode. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit review process (continued) 

 
Borrowers of the Credit Union are segmented into two rating classes. The Group
shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. 

Group  

Group  Description of the grade 

1 Performing 

2 Non performing 
 
The credit quality review process allows the Group to assess the potential loss as a result of the risk to 
which it is exposed and take corrective action. Exposure to credit risk is managed, in part, by obtaining 
collateral, and corporate and personal guarantees. 
 
Credit risk ratings also determine credit limits and collateral, and are systematically reassessed on an 
annual basis. 

circumstances or from the financial environment, in general. 

Investments 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties that 
have high credit quality and Government of Jamaica securities.  Accordingly, management does not expect 
any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 

Credit limits 

The Group manages concentrations of credit risk by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to 
a single borrower or groups of related borrowers, and to product segments. Borrowing limits are established 
by the use of the system described above, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are 
subject to regular revision. Limits on the level of credit risk by product categories, and for investment 
categories, are reviewed and approved bi-annually by the Board of Directors. 

Collateral 

The most widely used practice for mitigating credit risk is the taking of security in the form of physical 
assets, netting agreements and guarantees. The amount and type of collateral required depends on an 
assessment of the credit risk of the borrower.  Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of 
different types of collateral. The principal collateral types provided for loans and advances are charges over 
member balances, real property and motor vehicles. 

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the 
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the 
adequacy of the provision for credit losses. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Credit review process (continued) 

Impairment 

The Group assesses on a monthly basis whether there is evidence of impairment in accordance with the 
general principles and methodology set out in IAS 39 and the relevant implementation guidance. These 
procedures include the following steps: 

 Identification of events that provide objective evidence that a loan is impaired. 
 Establishment of criteria for assessment on an individual or collective basis. 
 Establishment of groups of assets with similar characteristics. 
 Establishing methodology to be used in determining cash flows from impaired loans 
 Determining interest income recognition. 
 Recoveries 

The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or 
interest are overdue by more than 30 days based on the established PEARLS grid recommended by the 
League or based on any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating downgrades or 
infringement of the original terms of the contract. 

The Group addresses impairment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and 
collectively assessed allowances. The assessment applied to individually significant accounts normally 
encompasses collateral held and the anticipated receipts for that individual account. Collectively assessed 
allowances are determined through the application of PEARLS prescribed percentages to the aging profiles 
of the loan portfolio. 

The internal rating system described above focuses more on credit-quality mapping from the inception of 
lending activities. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for 
losses that have been incurred at the date of the statement of financial position based on objective 
evidence of impairment. Due to the different methodologies applied, the amount of incurred credit losses 
provided for in the financial statements are usually lower than the amount determined from the expected 
loss model that is used for internal operational management and regulatory purposes. 

The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
under IAS 39, based on the following criteria set out by the Credit Union: 

 Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest; 
 Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of sales); 
 Breach of loan covenants or conditions;  
 Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings; 
  
 Deterioration in the value of collateral. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Impairment (continued) 

The impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at year-end is derived from the two 
internal rating grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the non-performing 
rating class. The table below shows the Credit Union
each internal rating class: 

 
 

The Group & 
The Credit Union 

 The Group & 
The Credit Union 

  2011  2010 
 

 
Loans   

   

Impairment 
provision 

  
Loans  

  

Impairment 
provision  

 
Performing  2,949,950  -  2,645,660  - 
Non-performing   358,843  27,987  333,451  39,359 

  3,308,793  27,987  2,979,111  39,359 
Interest accrued  44,760  -  39,557  - 

  3,353,553  27,987  3,018,668  39,359 
 

Credit risk exposure 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements: 

For items on statement of financial position, the exposures are based on net carrying amounts as reported 
in the statement of financial position.  

For items not on the statement of financial position, see table below representing a worst case scenario of 
credit risk exposure to the Group at 31 December 2011 and 2010, without taking account of any collateral 
held or other credit enhancements. 

 

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 2011 
  

2010 
  

2011 
  

2010 
 

Item not on statement of financial position -       

Loan commitments 79,870  39,000  79,870  39,000 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

Financial risk factors (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Loans 

Credit quality of loans  

Credit quality of loans is summarised as follows: 

 
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

 
2011 

 
 2010 

 
Performing      
Neither past due nor impaired 2,949,950  2,645,660 
Non-performing      
Past due but not impaired  304,289  273,807 
Impaired  54,554  59,644 

 358,843  333,451 

 3,308,793  2,979,111 
Less: Provision for credit losses (27,987)  (39,359) 

 3,280,806  2,939,752 
Add: Interest accrued 44,760  39,557 

 3,325,566  2,979,309 

Aged analysis of past due but not impaired loans 

 
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

 
2011 

  
2010 

 
Less than 30 days 3,724  12,437 
31 to 60 days 154,132  82,057 
61 to 90 days 34,143  52,328 
More than 90 days 112,290  126,985 

 304,289  273,807 

There are no financial assets other than loans that are past due. 

Of the aggregate amount of gross past due but not impaired loans, the fair value of collateral that the Group 
held was $576,564,000 (2010 - $491,600,000). Management has assessed the collateral and determined 
that fair value obtained during loan origination is equal to the fair value at year end. 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited | Financial Statements 31 December 2011 | 49 |

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:46 PM  Page 49



  32 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Renegotiated loans  

Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans, 
modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue customer account is 
reset to normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and 
practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of management, indicate that payment 
will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review.  Restructuring is most commonly 
applied to term loans.  The Group  otherwise be past due or impaired totalled 
$14,793,600 (2010 - $37,046,000). There were no renegotiated loans which were deemed impaired. 

Repossessed collateral 

The Group obtained assets by taking possession of collateral held as security, as follows: 

 Carrying Amount 

 

2011 

 

 2010 

 

Motor vehicles and properties 276,374  92,382 

Repossessed properties are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding 
indebtedness.  In general, the Group does not utilise repossessed properties for business use. 

Debt securities 

Debt securities are summarised as follows:   

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 
2011 

 
 2010 

 
 2011 

 
 2010 

 

Certificates of deposit  201,565  196,524  201,565  196,524 

Benchmark investment notes 181,407  161,715  137,563  146,506 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 145,468  381,844  199,269  381,844 

Other 123,746  68,744  96,046  68,744 

 652,186  808,827  634,443  793,618 

 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited | Financial Statements 31 December 2011| 50 |

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:46 PM  Page 50



  33 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Concentration of risk 

Loans 

The following table summarises the Group  their carrying amounts, as 
categorised by industry sector: 

 
The Group &  

The Credit Union 

 
2011 

 
 2010 

 

Agriculture, fishing and mining 2,836  4,587 

Construction and real estate 632,420  772,902 

Debt financing 445,759  289,519 

Distribution 27,138  23,722 

Manufacturing 2,540  1,854 

Micro loans 76,078  66,902 

Personal 1,797,610  1,557,180 

Professional and other services 68,145  52,738 

Other 256,267  209,707 

   3,308,793  2,979,111 

Less: Provision for credit losses (27,987)  (39,359) 

   3,280,806  2,939,752 

Interest receivable 44,760  39,557 

 3,325,566  2,979,309 

Debt securities 

The following table summarises the Group and the Credit Union
carrying amounts, as categorised by issuer:   

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 
2011 

 
 2010 

 
 2011 

 
 2010 

 

Government of Jamaica 181,407  161,715  137,563  146,506 

Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League 297,611  265,268  297,611  265,268 

Financial institutions 173,168  381,844  199,269  381,844 

 652,186  808,827  634,443  793,618 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequences may be the 
failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend. 

Liquidity risk management process 

Liquidity risk management safeguards the ability of the Group to meet payment obligations as they fall due. 
The Group s policy is to maintain liquidity corresponding to its estimated net liquidity requirements for 12 
months.  

The Group cess, as carried out within the Group by the Treasury Committee and 
monitored by the Finance Committee, includes: 

(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of the 
s source of funds which includes cash balances, bank balances, investment maturities in order 

to determine their ability to make supplier payments and commitments for loans;  

(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as 
protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 

(iii) Maintaining committed lines of credit with the League; 

(iv) Optimising cash returns on investment; 

(v) Monitoring the statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory 
requirements. The most important of these is to maintain limits on the ratio of net liquid assets to 
customer liabilities; and  

(vi) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 

Monitoring and reporting takes the form of an analysis of the cash balances and expected investment 
maturity profiles for the next day, week and month, respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity 
management. The starting point for these projections is the generation of analyses of loan commitments and 
the examination of expired credit periods in comparison to the expected collection date of the financial 
assets. 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is 
fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for financial entities ever to be completely 
matched since business transacted is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position 
potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. 

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing 
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to 
changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 

Financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk 

The tables below present the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and principal cash flows) of 
the Group and the Credit Union
also reflect the expected maturities of the Group and Credit Union
year end date.  The Group expects that many members will not request repayment on the earliest date the 
Group could be required to pay. The expected maturity dates of financial assets and liabilities are based on 
estimates made by management as determined by retention history.  
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 The Group & The Credit Union 

 
Within 1 

Month  
2 to 3  

Months 
 4 to 12  
Months  

 2 to 5 
Years  

Over 5 
Years  Total   

       

 2011 

Members  deposits 787,693 767,923 389,905 6,590 - 1,952,111 

 525,755 468,062 354,591 67,657 3,662 1,419,727 

External credit 20,700 44,472 151,158 19,807 25,457 261,594 

Total financial liabilities  
(contractual maturity dates) 1,334,148 1,280,457 895,654 94,054 29,119 3,633,432 

Total financial liabilities  
(expected maturity dates) 1,071,062 1,509,259 941,290 261,698 28,719 3,812,029 

Total financial assets 
 (expected maturity dates) 1,228,879 1,682,877 1,024,639 747,936 863,536 5,547,867 

 2010 

 760,131 736,803 359,669 5,978 - 1,862,581 

 531,292 474,639 352,222 45,916 3,307 1,407,376 

External credit 16,570 35,599 121,000 15,855 20,378 209,402 

Total financial liabilities  
(contractual maturity dates) 1,307,993 1,247,041 832,891 67,749 23,685 3,479,359 

Total financial liabilities  
(expected maturity dates) 1,070,315 1,480,051 894,650 189,374 23,686 3,658,076 

Total financial assets 
 (expected maturity dates) 1,167,300 1,598,549 973,295 710,457 820,265 5,269,866 

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash, 
deposits, short-term investments, reverse repurchase agreements and advances to customers. In the 
normal course of business, a proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be 
extended. 

security for loan facilities. 

Items not carried on the statement of financial position 

At 31 December 2011, the Credit Union
approved but not yet disbursed, amounted to $79,870,000 (2010 - $39,000,000). 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk 

The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the Finance 
Committee which carries out extensive research and monitors the price movement of financial assets on the 
local and international markets.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 

Currency risk 

Currency or foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates, and arises mainly from the Credit Union
cambio operations. The Group has no significant exposure to currency risk as less than half of a percent of 
net financial assets is maintained in foreign currencies at any given time during the year. 

The Treasury Committee has approved limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate. These 
limits may vary from time to time as determined by the Treasury Committee.  

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates, and arises mainly from investments, loans and deposits. 

Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate 
instruments expose the Credit Union to fair value interest risk.  

The Group policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate 
mix of fixed and variable rate instruments as determined by the Finance committee. The policy also requires 
it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets and interest bearing financial liabilities. The 
Board sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is 
monitored daily by the Treasury department. 

The following tables summarise the Group and Credit Union re to interest rate risk. They include 
the Group and Credit Union
contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 
  The Group 

 2011 

 Within 1 
Month 

1 to 3  
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5  
Years  

Over 5 
Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total 

        

Financial Assets        

Earning assets          

Deposits 97,095 27,700 - - - - 124,795 

Short-term investments 126,725 74,840 - - - - 201,565 

Reverse repurchase 
agreements 69,546 74,044 - - - 1,878 145,468 

Loans, after provision for  
loan impairment 35,136 29,341 233,831 1,736,120 1,246,378 44,760 3,325,566 

Financial investments - - - 167,454 61,295 46,754 275,503 

Non-earning assets - - - - - 124,136 124,136 

Total financial  assets 328,502 205,925 233,831 1,903,574 1,307,673 217,528 4,197,033 

Financial Liabilities        

Interest bearing liabilities          

 767,597 757,202 380,127 5,720 - 8,342 1,918,988 

 515,798 459,616 348,193 66,436 3,604 26,080 1,419,727 

External credit - - 1,567 246,663 - - 248,230 

Non-interest bearing  liabilities - - - - - 31,246 31,246 

Total financial liabilities 1,283,395 1,216,818 729,887 318,819 3,604 65,668 3,618,191 

Total Interest Rate  
Sensitivity Gap (954,893) (1,010,893) (496,056) 1,584,755 1,304,069 151,860 578,842 

Cumulative Gap (954,893) (1,965,786) (2,461,842) (877,087) 426,982 578,842  

        

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited | Financial Statements 31 December 2011 | 55 |

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:47 PM  Page 55



  38 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 
  The Group 

 2010 

 Within 1 
Month 

1 to 3  
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5  
Years  

Over 5 
Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total 

        

Financial Assets        

Earning assets          

Deposits 69,464 - - - - - 69,464 

Short-term investments 45,201 86,471 64,852 - - - 196,524 

Reverse repurchase 
agreements - 412,559 - - - 5,835 418,394 

Loans, after provision for  
loan impairment 10,475 26,864 277,003 1,554,612 1,070,798 39,557 2,979,309 

Financial investments - 14,201 - 149,933 71,406 41,961 277,501 

Non-earning assets - - - - - 59,047 59,047 

Total financial  assets 125,140 540,095 341,855 1,704,545 1,142,204 146,400 4,000,239 

Financial Liabilities        

Interest bearing liabilities          

 752,094 728,247 348,531 5,502 - 11,233 1,845,607 

 510,987 455,746 345,261 65,877 3,176 26,329 1,407,376 

External credit - - 156,306 4,132 34,727 - 195,165 

Non-interest bearing  liabilities - - - - - 52,922 52,922 

Total financial liabilities 1,263,081 1,183,993 850,098 75,511 37,903 90,484 3,501,070 

Total Interest Rate  
Sensitivity Gap (1,137,941) (643,898)   (508,243) 1,629,034 1,104,301 55,916 499,169 

Cumulative Gap (1,137,941) (1,781,839) (2,290,082) (661,048) 443,253 499,169  
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 The Credit Union 

 2011 

 Within 1 
Month 

1 to 3  
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5  
Years  

Over 5 
Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total 

   $      

Financial Assets        

Earning assets          

Deposits 97,095 - - - - - 97,095 

Short-term investments 126,725 74,840 - - - - 201,565 

Reverse repurchase 
agreements 72,102 125,439 - - - 1,728 199,269 

Loans, after provision for  
loan impairment 35,136 29,341 233,831 1,736,120 1,246,378 44,760 3,325,566 

Financial investments - - - 139,768 45,751 45,845 231,364 

Non-earning assets - - - - - 90,823 90,823 

Total financial assets 331,058 229,620 233,831 1,875,888  1,292,129 183,156 4,145,682 

Financial Liabilities        

Interest bearing liabilities          

 767,597 757,202 380,127 5,720 - 8,342 1,918,988 

 515,798 459,616 348,193 66,436 3,604 26,080 1,419,727 

External credit - - 1,567 246,663  - 248,230 

Non-interest bearing  liabilities - - - - - 29,145 29,145 

Total financial  liabilities  1,283,395 1,216,818 729,887 318,819 3,604 63,567 3,616,090 

Total Interest Rate  
Sensitivity Gap (952,337) (987,198) (496,056) 1,557,069 1,288,525 119,589 529,592 

Cumulative Gap (952,337) (1,939,535) (2,435,591) (878,522) 410,003 529,592  
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 
 The Credit Union 

 2010 

 Within 1 
Month 

1 to 3  
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5  
Years  

Over 5 
Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total 

        

Financial Assets        

Earning assets          

Deposits 69,464 - - - - - 69,464 

Short-term investments 45,201 86,471 64,852 - - - 196,524 

Reverse repurchase 
agreements - 376,114 - - - 5,730 381,844 

Loans, after provision for  
loan impairment 10,475 26,864 277,003 1,554,612 1,070,798 39,557 2,979,309 

Financial investments - 14,201 - 135,084 71,406 41,601 262,292 

Non-earning assets - - - - - 59,979 59,979 

Total financial assets 125,140 503,650 341,855 1,689,696 1,142,204 146,867 3,949,412 

Financial Liabilities        

Interest bearing liabilities          

 752,094 728,247 348,531 5,502 - 11,233 1,845,607 

 510,987 455,746 345,261 65,877 3,176 26,329 1,407,376 

External credit - - 156,306 4,132 34,727 - 195,165 

Non-interest bearing  liabilities - - - - - 51,955 51,955 

Total financial  liabilities  1,263,081 1,183,993 850,098 75,511 37,903 89,517 3,500,103 

Total Interest Rate  
Sensitivity Gap (1,137,941) (680,343) (508,243) 1,614,185 1,104,301 57,350 449,309 

Cumulative Gap (1,137,941) (1,818,284) (2,326,527) (712,342) 391,959 449,309  
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, on the Group  net surplus and other components of equity. 

The sensitivity of the net surplus is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on net surplus based on 
the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities.  The sensitivity of other components of equity is 
calculated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets for the effects of the assumed changes in 
interest rates.  The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on 
market risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in each variable, variables had to be tested on an 
individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these variables are non-linear. 

 The Group  

 
Effect on  

Net Surplus 

Effect on  
Other 

Components 
of Equity 

Effect on 
Net Surplus 

Effect on 
Other 

Components      
of Equity 

 
2011 

 
2011 

 
2010 

 
2010 

 

Change in basis points:     

-100 basis points (2010  200 basis points) (2,632) 1,375 (1,720) 1,532 

+100 basis points (2010  100 basis points) 2,632 (1,375) 860 (766) 

 

 The Credit Union 

 
Effect on  

Net Surplus 

Effect on  
Other 

Components 
of Equity 

Effect on 
Net Surplus 

Effect on 
Other 

Components 
of Equity 

 
2011 

 
2011 

 
2010 
000 

2010 
 

Change in basis points:     

-100 basis points (2010  200 basis points) (1,992) 1,372 (1,228) 2,113 

+100 basis points (2010  100 basis points) 1,992 (1,372) 614 (1,056) 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

Average effective yields by earlier of the contractual re-pricing or maturity dates:  
 The Group  

 Immediately 
rate sensitive 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5  
Years  

Weighted 
Average 

 % % % % % % 

 2011 

Earning assets         

Liquid assets - - - - - - 

Deposits 4 - - - - 4 

Short-term investments 6 6 - - - 6 

Reverse repurchase agreements 6 6 - - - 6 

Loans (1) 19 19 19 16 18 19 

Financial investments 7 7 7 17 7 7 

Interest bearing liabilities         
(2) 4 4 4 7 - 4 

External credit (2) - - 11 7 - 8 
 

 The Group 

 Immediately 
rate sensitive 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5  
Years  

Weighted 
Average 

 % % % % % % 

 2010 

Earning assets         

Liquid assets - - - - - - 

Deposits 6 - - - - 6 

Short-term investments - 6 5 - - 6 

Reverse repurchase agreements - 7 5 5 4 5 

Loans (1) - 20 19 - - 19 

Financial investments - 10 10 12 - 11 

Interest bearing liabilities         
(2) - 4 4 - - 4 

External credit (2) - 7 11 - 7 8 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 
 The Credit Union 

 Immediately 
rate sensitive 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5  
Years  

Weighted 
Average 

 % % % % % % 

 2011 

Earning assets         

Liquid assets - - - - - - 

Deposits 4 - - - - 4 

Short-term investments 6 6 - - - 6 

Reverse repurchase agreements 6 6 -   6 

Loans (1) 19 19 19 16 18 19 

Financial investments 7 7 7 7 7 7 

Interest bearing liabilities         
(2) 4 4 4 7 - 4 

External credit (2) - - 11 7 - 8 

 

 The Credit Union 

 Immediately 
rate sensitive 

Within 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5  
Years  

Weighted 
Average 

 % % % % % % 

 2010 

Earning assets         

Liquid assets - - - - - - 

Deposits 6 - - - - 6 

Short-term investments 6 6 5 - - 6 

Reverse repurchase agreements - 6 - - - 6 

Loans (1) 19 20 19 19 19 19 

Financial investments - 10 - 10 10 10 

Interest bearing liabilities         
(2) 4 4 4 4 - 4 

External credit (2) - - 11 7 7 8 

(1)   Yields are based on book values, net of allowances for credit losses and contractual interest rates. 

(2)   Yields are based on contractual interest rates. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Other price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or 
factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Group has no significant exposure to other price 
risk. 

(d) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the 

financial risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour. 

losses and damage to its reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to identify operational risk is 
assigned to senior management. This responsibility is supported by overall Credit Union standards for the 
management of operational risk in the following areas: 

 Requirements for the periodic assessment of the operational risk faced, and the adequacy of the 
controls and procedures to address the risks identified. 

 Requirements for the appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of 
transactions. 

 Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions. 

 Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements. 

 Documentation of controls and procedures. 

 Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action. 

 Development of contingency plans. 

 Training and professional development. 

 Ethical and business standards. 

 Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective 

Compliance with Credit Union policies is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by 
internal audit. The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit 
to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Supervisory Committee, senior management and the 
Board of Directors. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 
 

(e) Capital management 
 
The Group
the face of the statement of financial position, are: 
 
Credit Union 

(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League and 
the Bank of Jamaica for the financial sector in which the Credit Union operates;  

(ii) To safeguard the Group
returns and benefits for members. 

(iii) To maintain an 8% ratio of permanent capital to total assets; 

(iv) To increase the permanent share capital as the main focus of building institutional capital; and 

(v) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business through the allocation of 
30% of net surplus to institutional capital. 

 
CCU Investments Limited  

(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the Financial Services Commission;  

(ii) To maintain a capital to total assets ratio of 6% or greater; 

(iii) To maintain a capital base to risk weighted assets ratio of 14% or greater. 
 

 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored by the Group
the guidelines in its Capital Asset Management Policy. 

 
The League currently requires member credit unions to maintain a minimum level of institutional capital at 
8% of total assets. The proposed Bank of Jamaica regulations require the League to ensure that member 
companies:  

(i) Hold a minimum level of the regulatory capital of 6% of total assets; and 

(ii) Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets at or above 10%.  
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 
 

(f) Capital management 
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Credit Union as at 
the statement of financial position dates. During the year, the Group complied with all externally imposed 
capital requirements to which they are subject. 

 

 The Credit Union 

 Actual Required Actual Required 

 
2011 

 
2011 

 
2010 

 
2010 

 
  Total regulatory capital 612,413 332,837 561,097 318,250 
     
  Risk-weighted assets:     
Total risk-weighted assets 4,160,461  3,978,122  
     
Total capital ratio 13% 10% 14% 10% 
Permanent capital to total assets 13% 8% 14% 8% 
Regulatory capital to total assets 14% 6% 13% 6% 

 

 

 CCU Investments Limited 

 Actual Required Actual Required 

 
2011 

 
2011 

 
2010 

 
2010 

 
  Total regulatory capital 50,651 3,058 - - 
     
  Risk-weighted assets:     
Total risk-weighted assets 42,262  -  
     
Capital to total assets 99% 6% - - 
Capital base to risk weighted assets 120% 14% - - 

 

No capital management ratio has been included for the year ended 31 December 2010, as the subsidiary 
was not yet licensed as a securities dealer. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Fair values of financial instruments 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 

 
 
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments held as at 31 December 2011 that, subsequent 
to initial recognition, are measured at fair value. The financial instruments are grouped into levels 1 to 3 based 
on the degree to which the fair value is observable, as follows: 
 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical instruments. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted 
market prices at the date of the statement of financial position. A market is regarded as active if quoted 
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service 
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 

ket price used for financial assets is the current bid price. These 
instruments are grouped in Level 1; 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 
level 1 that are observable for the instrument, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 
prices) The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair 
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.; and 

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
instrument that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). If one or more of the 
significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3. 

 
There were no transfers between levels during the year. 

 
 The Group 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total   
     

 2011 

Available-for-sale investments -     

Quoted equities 10,652 - - 10,652 

Financial institutions - - 78,242 78,242 

Issued by Government of Jamaica - 181,407 - 181,407 

 10,652 181,407 78,242 270,301 

 2010 

Available-for-sale investments -     

Quoted equities 8,675 - - 8,675 

Financial institutions - - 78,903 78,903 

Issued by Government of Jamaica - 161,715 - 161,715 

 8,675 161,715 78,903 249,293 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

 
 The Credit Union 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total   
     

 2011 

Available-for-sale investments -     

Quoted equities 10,357 - - 10,357 

Financial institutions - - 78,242 78,242 

Issued by Government of Jamaica - 137,563 - 137,563 

 10,357 137,563 78,242 226,162 

 2010 

Available-for-sale investments -     

Quoted equities 8,675   8,675 

Financial institutions - - 78,903 78,903 

Issued by Government of Jamaica - 146,506 - 146,506 

 8,675 146,506 78,903 234,084 
 

Reconciliation of level 3 items - 
 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

     2011 
  2010 

 
Balance at beginning of year     78,903  73,688 
Total (loss)/gain  statement of comprehensive 

income     (661)  5,215 

Balance at end of year     78,242  78,903 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 
The following methods and assumptions have been used in determining fair values for financial instruments:  

(i) The fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within one year is assumed to approximate their 
carrying amount. This assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short-term elements of all other financial 
assets and liabilities; 

(ii) The fair value of demand deposits with no specific maturity is assumed to be the amount payable on 
demand at the date of the statement of financial position; 

(iii) The fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their carrying amounts;  

(iv) The carrying value of external credit approximates its fair values, as these loans are carried at amortised 
cost reflecting their contractual obligations and the interest rates are reflective of current market rates for 
similar transactions; 

(v) The fair value of fixed rate loans is estimated by comparing market interest rates when the loans were 
granted with current market rates offered on similar loans. For match-funded loans the fair value is assumed 
to be equal to their carrying value, as gains and losses offset each other. Changes in the credit quality of 
loans within the portfolio are not taken into account in determining gross fair values, as the impact of credit 
risk is recognised separately by deducting the amount of the provisions for credit losses from both book and 
fair values; 

(vi) Unquoted equities classified as available-for-sale are measured at historical cost less impairment, as their 
fair values cannot be reliably determined. 

(vii) The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If there is no active market for 
investments, the Credit Union establishes fair value by using valuation techniques, such as reference to 

nstruments that are substantially the same or 
amounts derived from discounted cash flow models, making maximum use of market inputs. 
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5. External Credit Interest Expense 
 

    The Group & 
The Credit Union 

      2011 
  2010 

 
Development Bank of Jamaica Limited      3,404  1,508 

 Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Limited     8,876  3,801 
National Housing Trust       171  199 

 Pan Caribbean Financial Services       109  466 
 Jamaica Mortgage Bank      1,735  - 
 Other      2,411  3,335 
      16,706  9,309 
 
6. Fee and Commission Income 
 

  The Group   
The Credit Union 

  2011 
  2010 

  
2011 

  2010 
 

 Access Plus, Rule and Passbooks   788  2,275   788  2,275 
Accounts maintenance   23,194  15,647  23,194  15,647 
Loan processing  12,226  5,139  12,226  5,139 
Loan service and protection   7,324  7,307  7,324  7,307 
Late payment  33,017  24,520  33,017  24,520 
Management  7,122  3,157  9,523  3,557 
Standing orders  4,298  3,792  4,298  3,792 
Statements and credit information   993  352   993  352 
Other  10,446  12,635  10,446  12,635 

    99,408  74,824  101,809  75,224 
 
7. Other Income 
 

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 2011 
  2010 

  2011 
  2010 

 
Foreign exchange trading   336  254   336  254 
Gain on sale of non-current assets held for sale 8,932  -  8,932  - 
Rental 2,183  1,525  2,183  1,525 
GCT claims 3,805  -  3,805  - 
Qnet dividend 2,507  -  2,507  - 
Other 2,374  2,022  3,754  2,693 

   20,137  3,801  21,517  4,472 
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8. Expenses by Nature 
 

  The Group  The Credit Union 

  2011 
  2010 

  2011 
  2010 

 
 Interest   109,435  137,151  109,435  137,151 

 Provision for loan impairment, net of recoveries 
(Note 15c))  (32,586)  (27,675)  (32,586)  (27,675) 

 Operating expenses           
Audit fees  3,766  3,700  3,120  3,000 
Data processing  6,700  6,074  6,700  6,074 

       Depreciation  23,328  18,814  23,328  18,814 
Insurance  27,982  22,123  27,982  22,123 

 Legal and professional fees  1,784  3,295  1,784  3,295 
 Marketing and promotion  35,530  31,628  35,530  31,628 

Operation of premises and equipment  41,384  34,665  40,883  34,540 
Other administration   23,629  19,422  23,219  19,289 

       Representation and affiliation   37,377  28,222  37,192  28,222 
Security  19,774  17,509  19,774  17,509 
Stationery and printing supplies  8,957  5,899  8,957  5,899 

 Staff costs (Note 9)  332,699  322,618  332,699  322,618 
Telecommunication and postage  15,446  14,955  15,446  14,955 

  578,356  528,924  576,614  527,966 
  655,205  638,400  653,463  637,442 
 
9. Staff Costs  
 

(a) Staff costs comprise: 

    The Group & 
The Credit Union 

      2011 
  2010 

 
Salaries and wages      247,451  231,517 
Statutory contributions      29,931  29,070 
Pension (Note 18)      (1,289)  3,403 
Other staff benefits      56,606  58,628 
      332,699  322,618 
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9. Staff Costs (Continued) 
 

(b)  The number of employees at the end of the year was: 
 

    The Group & 
The Credit Union 

      2011 
No.  2010 

No. 
Full-time      121  121 
Part-time      62  50 

      183  171 
 
10. Taxation 
 

Taxation is based on profit for the year adjusted for taxation purposes and comprises income tax at 33 %. 

 

 
 

The Group 
 

 
 

The Credit Union 

 
2011 

  

 
2010 

  

 
2011 

   
2010 

  
Current income tax -  -  -  - 
Deferred taxation (Note 23) 181  37  -  - 
 181  37  -  - 
        

Reconciliation of applicable tax charge to effective 
tax charge:    

 The Group  
 

The Credit Union 

 
2011 

 

 2010 
  

2011 
  

2010 
 

Profit before tax 112,689  116,770  112,144  116,661 
        
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 33 % 37,563  38,924  37,382  38,887 
Surplus of credit union and other income not subject 

to tax 
 

 (37,382) 
 

(38,887)  (37,382)  (38,887) 
 181  37  -  - 
 
A charge for income tax arises on the income of the subsidiary. The Credit Union is exempt from tax under Section 
59 (1) of the Co-operative Societies Act. 
 
Subject to agreement with the Commissioner of the Taxpayer Administration Jamaica, losses available to be 
carried forward indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the subsidiary amount to approximately 
$403,000 (2010  $355,000). 
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11. Deposits 
 

 The Group   
The Credit Union 

 2011 
  2010 

  
2011 

  2010 
 

       Bank savings deposits 1,049  720  1,049  720 
Fixed deposits 27,700  -  -  - 
Cucash 96,046  68,744  96,046  68,744 

 124,795  69,464  97,095  69,464 
 

Cucash deposits are cash management call accounts which are maintained with the League. The rules of the 
League stipulate that the Credit Union 
deposits. 
 

12. Short-term investments 
 

Short-term investments comprise term deposits held with Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Limited, 
and are classified as available-for-sale. 
 
The rules of the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Limited stipulate that the Credit Union must invest a 

-term deposit instruments. A minimum of 8% is required 
to be invested with the League, and a maximum of 2% with any other financial institution. Of the 8% 
requirement, a minimum of 4% must be held in fixed deposits and 2% in Cucash deposits (Note 11).  

 
13. Reverse Repurchase Agreements 

 
The Group enters into reverse repurchase agreements collateralised by Government of Jamaica securities.  
These agreements may result in credit exposure in the event that the counterparty to the transaction is unable to 
fulfil its collateral obligations. 
   
At 31 December 2011, the Group and Credit Union respectively, held securities totalling $145,468,000 and 
$197,641,000 (2010 - $418,394,000 and $381,844,000) representing Government of Jamaica debt securities, 
as collateral for reverse repurchase agreements. 
 
The balance for reverse repurchase agreements at 31 December 2011 includes interest accrued totalling 
$1,878,000 and $1,728,000 (2010 - $5,835,000 and $5,730,000) for the Group and the Credit Union 
respectively. 
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14. Financial Investments 
 

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 2011 
  2010 

  2011 
  

2010 
 

Available-for-sale, at fair value          
Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Limited    

mortgage funds 37,751  64,682  37,751  64,682 

Victoria Mutual Building Society and National 
Housing Trust deposits 14,795  14,221  14,795  14,221 

Quoted equities 10,652  8,675  10,357  8,675 
Government of Jamaica securities  181,407  161,715  137,563  146,506 

 244,605  249,293  200,466  234,084 
Available-for-sale, at historical cost          

Unquoted equities 17,934  17,751  17,934  17,751 

QNET deposit 12,964  10,457  12,964  10,457 

 275,503  277,501  231,364  262,292 
 

(a) The rules of the League stipulate that the Credit Union 

mortgage facilities, which are extended to the members of the Credit Union. 
 
(b) Victoria Mutual Building Society and National Housing Trust deposits represent funds held with these 

institutions to secure joint mortgage facilities, which are extended to the members of the Credit Union. 
 

(c) Government of Jamaica securities include interest receivable amounting to $5,497,000 and $4,590,000 
(2010  $5,078,000 and $4,718,000) for the Group and Credit Union respectively. 

 
(d) Unquoted equities represent shares held in the League.   A minimum of 1,000,000 shares must be held 

with the League for the Credit Union to retain membership status. The equivalent of amounts held in the 
statutory reserve (Note 24(d)) must either be used to purchase League shares or placed in League term 
deposits (Note 12). 

 
(e) The QNET deposit represents a 17.4% ownership investment by the Credit Union, which will provide 

information services to participating credit unions. In total, the participating credit unions will account for 
80% of the cost of the project and the remaining 20% will be funded by the League. 
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15. Loans 
 

(a)  Movement in loans during the year: 
 

    The Group & 
The Credit Union 

      2011 
  2010 

 
Balance at beginning of year      2,979,309  2,721,482 
Add: Disbursements      2,056,759  1,749,521 

      5,036,068  4,471,003 
Less: Repayments       (1,727,275)  (1,491,892) 

      3,308,793  2,979,111 
Less: Allowance for loan impairment       (27,987)  (39,359) 

      3,280,806  2,939,752 
Add: Interest accrued      44,760  39,557 

      3,325,566  2,979,309 
  

(b)   Delinquent loans 
 

At 31 December 2011, there were 356 (2010 - 681) delinquent loans aged two months and over.   
  

The total loan loss provision derived below is consistent with the loan loss provisioning rules of the League. 
The total provision for 2011 is in excess of the provision required under IFRS provisioning rules. The 

Surplus to a Loan Loss Reserve as indicated in Note 15 (c). 
 
Delinquent loans are summarised as follows: 
 

2011 

Months in 
Arrears 

Number of 
Loans 

Total 
Loan 

Balance 
Savings 

Held Exposure 
 

Provision  
    % 

2 - 2.9 117 55,576 4,704 50,872 5,558 10 
3  5.9 144 54,526 1,531 53,432 16,358 30 

6  11.9 51 36,444 2,148 33,860 21,866 60 
>12 44 65,032 226 64,806 65,032 100 

 356 211,578 8,609 202,970 108,814  
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15. Loans (Continued) 
 

(b)   Delinquent loans (continued) 
 

Delinquent loans are summarised as follows: 
 

2010 

Months in 
Arrears 

Number of 
Loans 

Total 
Loan 

Balance 
Savings 

Held Exposure 
 

Provision  
    % 

2 - 2.9 132 63,220 5,834 57,386 6,322 10 
3  5.9 199 90,889 2,880 88,009 27,267 30 

6  11.9 197 59,506 741 58,765 35,703 60 
>12 153 38,514 346 38,168 38,514 100 

 681 252,129 9,801 242,328 107,806  
 
 
The exposure disclosed above is before taking account of any collateral held in respect of these loans. 

 
(c) Provision for impairment 
 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

 
 

  
 2011 

  
2010 

 
Provision for impairment at beginning of year (IFRS)     39,359  40,561 
Additional amounts provided during the year     40,248  32,563 
Bad debts written off     (51,620)  (33,765) 

Provision for impairment at end of year (IFRS)     27,987  39,359 
Additional provision through transfer from Accumulated 
 Surplus to the loan loss reserve in non-institutional capital  

 
 

 
80,827  68,447 

     108,814  107,806 
 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

 
 

  
 2011 

  
2010 

 
  Additional amounts provided during the year     40,248  32,563 
  Bad debts recovered     (7,662)  (4,888) 

  Charged to income during the year     32,586  27,675 
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16. Accounts Receivable 
 

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 2011 
  2010 

  2011 
  2010 

 
Collectors  fees 11,681  6,731  11,681  6,731 

 CUETS security deposit 3,768  3,532  3,768  3,532 
 Prepayments 17,532  20,368  17,532  20,368 

 Remittance settlement 3,454  1,204  3,454  1,204 
         Rent receivable  3,328  4,236  3,328  4,236 

Management fee - Pension 2,825  1,793  2,825  1,793 
 Other 11,516  4,621   18,795  5,719 
 54,104  42,485  61,383  43,583 
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
 The Group & The Credit Union 

 Freehold 
Land and 
Buildings 

Computer 
Equipment 

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicles 

 
Capital  

Work in 
Progress Total 

       
At Cost -       

At 1 January 2010 65,108 59,000 98,237 309 2,476 225,130 

Additions 2,946 17,945 7,789 1,630 34,108 64,418 

Transfers 501 1,462 - - (1,963) - 
Transferred to non-current 

assets held for sale* (7,198) - - - - (7,198) 
At 31 December 2010 61,357 78,407 106,026 1,939 34,621 282,350 

Additions 14,329 10,436 17,783 - 7,961 50,509 

Transfers 22,096 172 1,737 - (24,005) - 

At 31 December 2011 97,782 89,015 125,546 1,939 18,577 332,859 

Depreciation -       

At 1 January 2010 13,246 41,924 56,652 99 - 111,921 

Charge for the year 1,381 9,291 7,786 356 - 18,814 
Transferred to non-current 

assets held for sale* (1,816) - - - - (1,816) 

At 31 December 2010 12,811 51,215 64,438 455 - 128,919 

Charge for the year 2,304 10,365 10,303 356 - 23,328 

At 31 December 2011 15,115 61,580 74,741 811 - 152,247 

Net Book Value -       

     31 December 2011 82,667 27,435 50,805 1,128 18,577 180,612 
 31 December 2010 48,546 27,192 41,588 1,484 34,621 153,431 
 

*As at 31 December 2010 the Group commenced the sale of property located at St. Jago Shopping Center. The 
sale of property was completed during the year and premises at Oasis Shopping Centre was subsequently 
acquired and renovated for use as a branch. 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited | Financial Statements 31 December 2011| 76 |

Financials_Churches Financial 2011  5/31/12  4:48 PM  Page 76



  59 

Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 December 2011 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

18. Retirement Benefits 
  

The Group participates in a joint contributory pension scheme, which is open to all permanent employees of the 
Credit Union and operated by the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League Limited.  The plan provides benefits 
to members based on average earnings for their final 3 years of service, with the Credit Union and employees 
each contributing 5  10 % of pensionable salaries.  The plan is valued by independent actuaries annually using 
the projected unit credit method; the latest such valuation being as at 31 December 2011. Additionally, the plan is 
valued by independent actuaries triennially to determine the adequacy of funding; the latest such valuation being 
as at 31 December 2010 revealed that the scheme was adequately funded as at that date. 

The defined benefit asset recognised in the statement of financial position was determined as follows: 
 

   
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

     2011 
  2010 

 

Fair value of plan assets     360,203  308,443 

Present value of funded obligations     (258,803)  (203,962) 

     101,400  104,481 

Unrecognised actuarial losses     26,349  8,316 

     127,749  112,797 
 
The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 

 

   
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

 
    

2011 
 

 2010 
 

Current service cost     (20,031)  (17,532) 

Interest cost     (24,272)  (25,432) 

Employee contributions     13,712  12,922 

Expected return on plan assets     31,880  26,639 

Total included in staff costs (Note 9)     1,289  (3,403) 
 

The actual return on plan assets was $31,055,000 (2010  $32,201,000). 
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18. Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 

The movement in the fair value of plan assets during the year was as follows: 

   
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

 
 

 
  

2011 
 

 2010 
 

At beginning of year      308,443  256,547 

Expected return on plan assets     31,880  26,639 

Actuarial (loss)/gain on plan assets     (826)  5,561 

Contributions          

Employer     13,663  12,894 

Employee     13,712  12,922 

Benefits paid     (6,669)  (6,120) 

At end of year     360,203  308,443 
 

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation during the year was as follows: 
 

   
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

 
 

 
  

2011 
 

 2010 
 

At beginning of year      203,962  144,478 

Current service cost     20,031  17,532 

Interest cost     24,272  25,432 

Actuarial losses on obligations     17,207  22,640 

Benefits paid     (6,669)  (6,120) 

At end of year     258,803  203,962 
 

Expected contributions to the plan for the year ended 31 December 2012 amount to $13,190,000. 
 

The expected return on plan assets was determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets 
underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross 
redemption yields as at the date of the statement of financial position. Expected returns on equity and property 
investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets. 
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18. Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 

the plan. The distribution of plan assets was as follows: 
 

    The Group & 
The Credit Union 

               2011        2010 

      %  % 

Quoted equities      4  3 

Real estate      14  11 

Government of Jamaica securities      41  51 

Repurchase agreements      35  28 

US$ Bonds      3  4 

Other      3  3 

      100  100 
      

The five-year trend for the fair value of plan assets, the defined benefit obligation, the surplus in the plan, and 
experience adjustments for plan assets and liabilities is as follows: 

 2011 
 

2010 
 

2009 
 

2008 
000 

2007 
 

Fair value of plan assets 360,203 308,443 256,547 205,034 163,593 

Defined benefit obligation (258,803) (203,962) (144,478) (67,340) (77,051) 

Surplus 101,400 104,481 112,069 137,694 86,542 

      

Experience adjustments        

Fair value of plan assets (2,867) (5,611) (2,142) (20,695) (15,134) 

Defined benefit obligation (826) 7,976 27,183 13,080 5,723 

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 

   
The Group & 

The Credit Union 
     2011  2010 

Discount rate     10.0%  11.0% 

Expected return on plan assets     9.00%  10.0% 

Future salary increases      8.00%  13.5% 

Expected average remaining working lives of 
employees (years)     27.9  28.5 
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19. External Credit 
 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

     2011 
  2010 

 
(a) Development Bank of Jamaica Limited     104,817  12,880 
(b) Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League  Limited      100,832  173,561 
(c) National Housing Trust      2,264  2,545 
(d) National Investment Fund       317  4,134 
(e) PanCaribbean Bank Limited     -  2,045 
(f) Jamaica Mortgage Bank     40,000  - 
     248,230  195,165 

 
(a) These funds are for on-lending to small and medium enterprises to promote entrepreneurship and also for 

lending to qualified sub-borrowers in the micro-finance sector. The payments for the funding to promote 
entrepreneurship are made on a monthly basis at rates ranging from 8% to 11%, and are secured by a 
hypothecated cash investment of $21,500,000 held at the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League  
(Note 14). The funds that are on-lending to qualified sub-borrowers in the micro-finance sector are paid on a 
quarterly basis at a rate of 10%, this facility is unsecured. 

(b) This is comprised of a line of credit, a joint mortgage facility and a quick access bursary loan. The line of 
credit is for liquidity support and interest is charged at 10%; the joint mortgage and bursary facilities are for 
on-lending for home repairs, mortgages and educational purposes respectively and the interest rate charged 
for each facility is 8%. The quick access bursary is an unsecured facility whereas the line of credit is 
hypothecated by BOJ investments of $80,000,000. Payments on all facilities are made on a monthly basis. 

(c) The represents an on-lending mortgage facility obtained from the National Housing Trust. The amounts 
accessed by members  repayable over 162 months at an interest rate of 6%. For the first four months of 
the year the amounts were repayable at an interest rate of 8%, this was reduced to 7% in May 2011. This 
facility is  

(d) These funds are for on-lending to small and medium enterprises to promote entrepreneurship. Repayments 
are made on a quarterly basis and interest is charged at 4%. These facilities are primarily unsecured.  

(e) This represents a small business loan facility for on-lending to small and micro enterprises. Repayments are 
made on a quarterly basis and interest is charged at 9%. This facility is sec
property. All amounts outstanding at the end of 2010 were repaid during 2011. 

(f) This represents funds for on-lending to fund residential mortgage loans . The rate 
of interest payable on the loan is the weighted average yield of Bank of Jamaica 6 month Treasury Bill 
issued immediately prior to the disbursement of any tranche of the loan. 
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20.  
 

Movement on deposit balances during the year: 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

     2011 
  2010 

 
 Balance at beginning of the year     673,997  587,579 
Add: Deposits and transfers     2,606,148  2,427,473 
     3,280,145  3,015,052 
Less: Withdrawals and transfers     (2,508,103)  (2,341,055) 
     772,042  673,997 
Special fixed deposit accounts     1,139,506  1,160,377 
     1,911,548  1,834,374 
Interest accrued     7,440  11,233 

     1,918,988  1,845,607 
 
21. Voluntary Shares 
 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

     2011 
  2010 

 
Balance at the beginning of the year     1,407,376  1,398,558 
Shares deposited     1,339,119  1,335,125 
Shares withdrawn     (1,352,848)  (1,352,636) 
     1,393,647  1,381,047 
Add: Dividend accrued     26,080  26,329 

     1,419,727  1,407,376 
 
22. Accounts Payable 
 
 The Group  The Credit Union 

 2011 
  2010 

  2011 
  2010 

 
Accruals  8,484  37,635  8,299  36,668 
Other 22,762  15,287  20,846  15,287 

 31,246  52,922  29,145  51,955 
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23. Deferred taxation  
 
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of 33 %. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities. 

 
The movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 The Group  
 

The Credit Union   

    
2011 

 
 2010 

  
2011 

  
2010 

 
At the beginning of the year 134  -  -  - 

Charged to the net surplus or deficit in the 
statement of comprehensive income (Note 10) 181 

 
37  -  - 

Charged to other comprehensive income 11  97  -  - 

 326  134  -  - 
 

The deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income during the year arises on unrealised gains on available-
for-sale investments. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items: 

 The Group  The Credit Union 

 
2011 

 
 2010 

  
2011 

  
2010 

 
Deferred tax assets        

Tax losses (134)  (118)  -  - 

Interest payable (205)  -  -  - 

Total deferred tax assets (339)  (118)  -  - 

Deferred tax liabilities       - 

Fair value gains 107  97  -  - 

Interest receivable 558  155  -  - 

Total deferred tax liabilities 665  252     

Net deferred tax liabilities 326  134  -  - 
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24. Institutional Capital 
 
 The Group  The Credit Union 

 2011 
  

2010 
  2011 

  
2010 

 
Retained earnings reserve 207,364  199,157  207,364  199,157 
Permanent share reserve 500  -  500  - 
Permanent shares 83,004  74,697  83,004  74,697 
Statutory reserve 321,644  287,243  321,644  287,243 
Investment reserve 28,194  26,774  27,979  26,580 
Capital reserve 14,222  14,222  14,222  14,222 
Special reserve  325  325   325  325 

 655,253  602,418    655,038  602,224 
 

(a) Retained earnings reserve  
This reserve represents amounts transferred annually from Net Surplus and other appropriations are agreed 
upon by the members at the Annual General Meeting, in order to increase the institutional capital of the 
Credit Union. 

 
(b) Permanent share reserve 

This reserve represents a fund that can facilitate the transfer of members permanent share capital. An 
amount is set aside from the surplus each year to build this fund. 

 
(c) Permanent shares  

Permanent shares are paid in cash and are not redeemable, but may be transferred or sold to another 
member. 
 

(d) Statutory reserve  
 As required by the Co-operative Societies Act and the rules of Churches Co-operative Credit Union Limited, a 

minimum of twenty percent (20%) of the annual surplus, and amounts collected for entrance fees must be 
transferred to this reserve. This minimum was, however, increased to 30% by resolution of the Board in 
1998. 
 

(e) Investment reserve  
 This reserve represents realised and unrealised gains on investments. 
 

(f) Capital reserve  
 This reserve represents realised gains arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment. 
 

(g) Special reserve  
 account balances with share capital less than one share of $20.00 is 

maintained in this reserve. 
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25. Non-Institutional Capital 
 

   The Group & 
The Credit Union 

     2011 
  

2010 
 

Retirement benefit asset reserve     127,749  112,797 

Loan loss reserve      80,827  68,447 
       208,576  181,244 

 
(a)  Retirement benefit asset reserve 

       This reserve was created to match the value of retirement benefit asset of the Credit Union.  Movement on 
this reserve passes through Accumulated Surplus.  

 
(b) Loan loss reserve 

 This represents the excess of the Credit Union
which is required under IFRS.  This amount is an appropriation from the Accumulated Surplus. 

 
26. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 

At 31 December, Directors, Board Committee Members and Staff Members maintained the following balances 
with the Credit Union: 

   
The Group & 

The Credit Union 

     
2011 

  
2010 

 
Directors and Committee Members -        
Shares and savings     12,778  16,686 
Loans, including interest     22,890  48,551 
        
Staff Members -        
Shares and savings     31,236  33,134 
Loans, including interest     148,631  128,284 
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26. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 

At 31 December 2011, all loans owing by Directors, Board Committee Members and Staff were being paid in 
accordance with their loan agreements. 

 
Key management remuneration for the year was as follows: 
 

   The Group &  
The Credit Union 

     2011 
  2010 

 
Salaries and wages     34,149  26,889 
Statutory contributions     13,247  9,067 
Other staff benefits     8,261  3,843 

 
Key management comprises the Chief Executive Officer, the General Manager - Finance & Administration, the 
General Manager - Credit Administration & Loan Risk, the General Manager  Retail, Systems, Risk & 
Compliance and the General Manager  CCU Investments Limited. 

       
Directors are appointed on a voluntary basis and are not remunerated. 
 

27. Comparison of Ledger Balances 
 

 The Group & The Credit Union 

  Shares  Deposits  Loans 

      

 Balance as per General Ledger 1,419,727  772,042  3,308,793 

  1,419,727  772,042  3,308,793 

 -  -  - 
 
28. Insurance 
 

(a) Fidelity Insurance Coverage 
 
During the year, the Credit Union had fidelity insurance coverage with Cuna Mutual Insurance Company 
Limited. The total premium for the year was $2,462,000 (2010 - $1,994,000). 
 

(b) Life Savings and Loan Protection Coverage 
 

During the year, the Credit Union had life savings and loan protection coverage with Cuna Mutual Insurance 
Company Limited. The total premium for the year was $21,603,000 (2010 - $16,284,000). 
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29. Reclassifications 
 
Certain loan processing fees have been reclassified from fee and commission income and have been included 
with the interest income from loans for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010. The reclassification of these 
loan processing fees did not have any effect on the surplus for the year, nor did it impact accumulated surplus. 
 
Effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2011 

 

  
As previously 

stated  

Effect of 

Reclassification  
As 

reclassified 

      

Interest income  Loans 614,036      37,109  651,145 

Fee and commission income 136,517  (37,109)  99,408 
 
 

Effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2010 
 

  
As previously 

stated  

Effect of 

Reclassification  
As 

reclassified 

      

Interest income  Loans 596,235     40,643  636,878 

Fee and commission income 115,467  (40,643)  74,824 
 
 

 
 

  
As previously 

stated  

Effect of 

Reclassification  
As 

reclassified 

      

Interest income  Loans 614,036      37,109  651,145 

Fee and commission income 38,160  (37,109)  101,809 
 
 

 
 

  
As previously 

stated  

Effect of 

Reclassification  
As 

reclassified 

      

Interest income  Loans 596,235     40,643  636,878 

Fee and commission income 115,867  (40,643)  75,224 
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